

The Dark Side of Electroweak Naturalness Beyond the MSSM

G. Bélanger, C. Delaunay, A. Goudelis

► To cite this version:

G. Bélanger, C. Delaunay, A. Goudelis. The Dark Side of Electroweak Naturalness Beyond the MSSM. Journal of High Energy Physics, Springer, 2015, 04, pp.149. https://doi.org/10.1126641

HAL Id: hal-01126641 https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01126641

Submitted on 6 Mar 2015

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

The Dark Side of Electroweak Naturalness Beyond the MSSM

Geneviève Bélanger,^a Cédric Delaunay,^a Andreas Goudelis^{a,b}

^aLAPTh, Université de Savoie, CNRS, 9 Chemin de Bellevue, B.P. 110, F-74941 Annecyle-Vieux, France

^bInstitute of High Energy Physics, Austrian Academy of Sciences, Nikolsdorfergasse 18, 1050 Vienna, Austria E-mail: genevieve.belanger@lapth.cnrs.fr,

cedric.delaunay@lapth.cnrs.fr, andreas.goudelis@oeaw.ac.at

ABSTRACT: Weak scale supersymmetry (SUSY) remains a prime explanation for the radiative stability of the Higgs field. A natural account of the Higgs boson mass, however, strongly favors extensions of the Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model (MSSM). A plausible option is to introduce a new supersymmetric sector coupled to the MSSM Higgs fields, whose associated states resolve the little hierarchy problem between the third generation squark masses and the weak scale. SUSY also accomodates a weakly interacting cold dark matter (DM) candidate in the form of a stable neutralino. In minimal realizations, the thus-far null results of direct DM searches, along with the DM relic abundance constraint, introduce a level of fine-tuning as severe as the one due to the SUSY little hierarchy problem. We analyse the generic implications of new SUSY sectors parametrically heavier than the minimal SUSY spectrum, devised to increase the Higgs boson mass, on this little neutralino DM problem. We focus on the SUSY operator of smallest scaling dimension in an effective field theory description, which modifies the Higgs and DM sectors in a correlated manner. Within this framework, we show that recent null results from the LUX experiment imply a tree-level fine-tuning for gaugino DM which is parametrically at least a few times larger than that of the MSSM. Higgsino DM whose relic abundance is generated through a thermal freeze-out mechanism remains also severely fine-tuned, unless the DM lies below the weak boson pair-production threshold. As in the MSSM, well-tempered gaugino-Higgsino DM is strongly disfavored by present direct detection results.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Effective description of new physics beyond the MSSM 2.1 Higgs boson mass	4 6
3	BMSSM Electroweak Fine-tuning	9
4	Detection and relic density of neutralino dark matter	12
	4.1 Gaugino dark matter and direct detection	12
	4.2 Relic density of Higgsino dark matter	14
5	Dark matter implications for BMSSM naturalness	15
	5.1 Constraints	16
	5.2 Direct detection of neutralino dark matter	17
	5.3 Gaugino dark matter	20
	5.4 Higgsino dark matter	22
6	Conclusions	26
\mathbf{A}	Neutral Higgs spectrum	30
в	Neutralino masses and mixings to $\mathcal{O}(m_Z)$	31
	B.1 Bino dark matter	32
	B.2 Higgsino dark matter	32
С	Spin-independent DM scattering on nucleons	34
D	Electroweak fine-tuning expressions	35

1 Introduction

Persuasive gravitational evidence from the galactic scale and above suggests that our Universe is filled with an unknown form of non-baryonic, dark matter (DM) (see *e.g.* Refs.[1–3] for a review). Despite these observations, very little is known about the nature of the DM as well as its non-gravitational properties. A very attractive possibility is that DM is a cosmological relic in the form of non-relativistic, collisionless particles. Even within this paradigm the range of possible DM mass scales is very broad and the DM interactions are not specified. The thermal freezeout mechanism for generating the DM relic density is of particular interest as it suggests that DM particles couple to Standard Model (SM) fields, thus opening the possibility to probe the dark sector through known interactions other than gravity. It further offers the possibility to connect DM to the weak scale since an $\mathcal{O}(100 \text{ GeV})$ DM particle whose couplings to SM fields are comparable in strengh to the SM weak ones, freezes out with a relic density of the right order of magnitude. This is the so-called weakly interacting massive particle (WIMP) miracle. The same interactions would make relic DM particles in our immediate neighborhood directly visible through their scattering on nuclei [4], as well as allow for DM production at high energy colliders [5], provided its mass is not too large. Despite the remarkable efforts of direct detection experiments [6–10] and the completion of the 8 TeV LHC run, DM particles with properties consistent with the WIMP miracle remain elusive.

On completely different scales, the recent discovery [11, 12] of a $\simeq 125 \,\text{GeV}$ Higgs boson at the LHC also calls for the existence of new particles beyond the SM. A light SM Higgs is subject to a severe hierarchy problem which requires either an unnaturally large fine-tuning of seemingly unrelated SM parameters or a new structure to emerge not far below the TeV scale in order to screen the weak scale from large radiative corrections at very short distance. Although naturalness of the Higgs mass does not a priori predict the existence of a particle stable on cosmological scales, the coincidence of the plausible mass scales for DM and naturalness-motivated new physics remains intriguing. TeV-scale supersymmetry (SUSY) is a well motivated solution of the hierarchy problem which can easily accommodate a DM candidate. The lightest SUSY particle (LSP), if colorless and electrically neutral, gathers the required basic properties to act as DM, provided its decay back to SM states is forbidden by a sufficiently well-preserved *R*-parity symmetry [1]. The canonical candidate with the above properties is the lightest neutralino, *i.e.* the lightest SUSY partner of the neutral SM electroweak (EW) states. Neutralino DM scenarios are particularly interesting as their phenomenology is directly tied to the Higgs sector. This connection constitutes one of the rare occasions where DM affects EW naturalness.

Within the above framework, the minimal SUSY extension of the SM (MSSM) with exact *R*-parity is the most economical way to address both EW scale naturalness and DM. However, it is not possible in this model to accommodate a Higgs boson mass as large as $\simeq 125 \,\text{GeV}$ without a sizable source of SUSY breaking in the top quark/squark sector, which, rather ironically, reintroduces a percent-level sensitivity of the weak scale to arbitrarily short distance dynamics [13]. This defines the SUSY little hierarchy problem. Its resolution motivated various extensions of the MSSM, most of which invoke the existence of new light degrees of freedom around the MSSM ones. Those include in particular the addition of a gauge singlet superfield (NMSSM) [14, 15] or extra (spontaneously broken) gauge groups [16–21], both

offering the possibility of a reduced fine tuning as compared to the MSSM [22–27]. Another attractive approach consists in introducing a new SUSY sector slightly decoupled from the MSSM degrees of freedom. The separation of scales then allows for an effective treatment of the new sector beyond the MSSM. This SUSY effective approach is referred to in the literature as the BMSSM [28]. The authors of Refs. [28–30] pointed out that the leading higher-dimensional operator in the Higgs sector could bring the Higgs boson mass to its observed value, provided the BMSSM scale is within a few TeV.¹

Although the large amount of SUSY breaking in the top sector typically constitutes the dominant source of MSSM fine-tuning, another important source arises from the SUSY-preserving μ parameter controlling the Higgsino masses. If DM is to be identified with the lightest neutralino, direct detection searches and/or relic density constraints yield a unique probe of the fine-tuning associated with the Higgsino decoupling, potentially more efficient than direct electroweakino searches at the LHC. Direct detection typically forces the LSP to project almost entirely on either gaugino or Higgsino states, thus suppressing the dominant Higgs exchange amplitude. Having a gaugino LSP requires decoupling the μ parameter which, hence, induces unacceptably large fine-tuning. In contrast, Higgsino LSP satisfies direct detection constraints at low fine-tuning provided μ remains small. It is, however, not possible in this case to recover the observed DM relic density due to very efficient LSP annihilation and co-annihilation processes, unless the DM mass is sufficiently large. This implies a large $\mu \sim \mathcal{O}(\text{TeV})$ and again too large fine-tuning. The authors of Ref. [31] showed that the Xenon100 results already raise the tree-level fine-tuning in the MSSM up to the percent-level, which is of the same order as the fine-tuning originating from heavy third generation squarks (and the gluino). In particular, this implies that neutralino DM searches in direct detection experiments constitute a complementary probe of weak scale naturalness, potentially more efficient than top squark and gluino searches at the LHC. Moreover, the overall fine-tuning level may remain significant, through a dominant Higgsino source, in MSSM extensions which otherwise solve the little hierarchy problem. This is the case for instance in the NMSSM, unless the λ -SUSY limit is assumed [32].

The main goal of the present paper is to study the implications of DM phenomenology on EW naturalness in the BMSSM. The effective field theory (EFT) nature of this framework allows a generic analysis of such a DM/naturalness connection in MSSM extensions where the little hierarchy problem is solved through an extra heavy SUSY sector. In particular, we find interesting that, due to its SUSY-

¹Higher-dimensional operators could even dominate the Higgs boson mass prediction within the range of validity of the effective field theory. This feature results from the fact that the tree-level Higgs quartic interactions are doubly suppressed in the MSSM by small EW gauge couplings and the presence of *D*-flat directions.

preserving nature, the leading BMSSM operator in the Higgs sector modifies the Higgsino properties in a way which completely correlates with the Higgs mass, provided SUSY-breaking contributions in the top/stop sector are small as required by naturalness. There are existing studies in the literature on the BMSSM neutralino dark matter relic density [33, 34] and direct detection prospects [35]. However, to the best of our knowledge, none of them attempted to connect neutralino DM phenomenology to the question of weak scale naturalness in this framework. We first update the MSSM results of Ref. [31] by taking into account the recent null results of the LUX experiment [9], as well as assuming more up-to-date estimates for the hadronic parameters entering the spin-independent (SI) neutralino-nucleon scattering cross section. For gaugino LSP, we show that direct detection constraints always imply a significantly larger Higgsino fine-tuning in the BMSSM relative to the MSSM. Using current data from the LUX experiment, the fine-tuning is worsened by a factor of up to 4 for LSP masses around $30 - 50 \,\text{GeV}$. For Higgsino LSP, on the other hand, the level of fine-tuning remains comparable to that of the MSSM whenever the (co-)annihilation channels into weak bosons are open. We find, however, that the BMSSM operator is critical in obtaining the observed DM relic density for Higgsino LSP below the weak boson pair-production threshold, while keeping the charginos above the kinematic LEP bound. This is the only region of parameter space with a moderately low fine-tuning which is consistent with collider, direct DM detection and DM relic abundance constraints. A smoking gun signature of this scenario is a light Higgsino-like chargino state just above the kinematic LEP2 bound, $m_{\tilde{C}} \gtrsim 103 \,\text{GeV}$.

The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. In Sec. 2 we review the EFT description of the leading BMSSM operators, and their effects on the SM Higgs mass. Their impact on the tree-level source of EW fine-tuning is analyzed in Sec. 3, while in Sec. 4 we review the associated modifications in the neutralino and chargino sectors. In Sec. 5 we analyse the implications of direct DM searches and/or the relic density on EW fine-tuning in the BMSSM in comparison with the renormalizable MSSM, whenever possible. We present our conclusions in Section 6.

2 Effective description of new physics beyond the MSSM

We assume the MSSM is extended by a new supersymmetric sector whose characteristic mass scale M is parametrically larger than that of the MSSM states, collectively denoted by m_{soft} . The dynamics of such heavy supersymmetric sectors is then well described by an effective superpotential \mathcal{W}_{eff} whose least irrelevant operator involving only Higgs superfields is [28, 29]

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}} = \mu H_u \cdot H_d + \frac{\lambda_1}{M} (H_u \cdot H_d)^2 + \cdots, \qquad (2.1)$$

where the ellipses denote MSSM Yukawa interactions and $\mathcal{O}(1/M^2)$ and higher operators. $H_{u,d}$ are the chiral superfields of the Higgs doublets and $H_u \cdot H_d = H_u^T(i\sigma_2)H_d$ denotes their antisymmetric product. There are operators at $\mathcal{O}(1/M)$ which couple the Higgs with other chiral superfields in the Kahler potential, e.g. $\int d^4\theta H_d^{\dagger}Qu^c + h.c.$. However, those are irrelevant to our analysis as they contribute neither to the Higgs spectrum nor to the Higgs-to-neutralino couplings. There are also additional operators which violate baryon and/or lepton number [36, 37]. It is reasonable to assume that the underlying baryon and lepton number breaking dynamics arises at a much higher scale than $M \sim \mathcal{O}(\text{few TeV})$. For these reasons we only consider the $\mathcal{O}(1/M)$ operator of Eq.(2.1) (see Refs. [38–41] for BMSSM analyses including dimension six operators in the Higgs sector).

Once SUSY breaking is mediated to the effective theory, the following soft Lagrangian is induced

$$\mathcal{L}^{\text{soft}} = \mathcal{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}} + \int d^2\theta \ \frac{\lambda_2}{M} X (H_u \cdot H_d)^2 + \text{h.c.} , \qquad (2.2)$$

where $X = m_{\text{soft}} \theta^2$ is a dimensionless *F*-term spurion parameterizing SUSY breaking effects ². The MSSM soft terms are

$$-\mathcal{L}_{\text{MSSM}}^{\text{soft}} = m_{H_u}^2 |h_u|^2 + m_{H_d}^2 |h_d|^2 + (b \, h_u \cdot h_d + \text{h.c.}) + \frac{M_1}{2} \tilde{B} \tilde{B} + \frac{M_2}{2} \tilde{W}^a \tilde{W}^a + \cdots, \qquad (2.3)$$

where $h_{u,d}$ are the scalar components of $H_{u,d}$, \tilde{W}^a and \tilde{B} are the $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y$ gaugino fields and \cdots denotes the gluino mass, scalar fermion masses and trilinear interaction terms which do not play an important role here.

The effective operators in Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2) induce new quartic interactions in the Higgs scalar potential

$$2\epsilon_1(h_u \cdot h_d) \left(|h_u|^2 + |h_d|^2 \right) + \epsilon_2(h_u \cdot h_d)^2 + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (2.4)$$

as well as extra Higgs-Higgsino interactions

$$-\frac{\epsilon_1}{\mu^*} \Big[2(h_u \cdot h_d)(\tilde{h}_u \cdot \tilde{h}_d) + 2(\tilde{h}_u \cdot h_d)(h_u \cdot \tilde{h}_d) + (h_u \cdot \tilde{h}_d)^2 + (\tilde{h}_u \cdot h_d)^2 \Big] + \text{h.c.}, (2.5)$$

where $\tilde{h}_{u,d}$ are the Higgsino doublets, SUSY partners of $h_{u,d}$ and we defined $\epsilon_1 \equiv \lambda_1 \mu^*/M$ and $\epsilon_2 \equiv -\lambda_2 m_{\text{soft}}/M$. There are four independent CP phases in Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2) which can be parameterized as $\arg(\mu M_{1,2}/b)$, $\arg(\epsilon_1/b)$, and $\arg(\epsilon_2/b^2)$ [43, 44]. Some combinations of those phases are typically strongly constrained by electric dipole moment (EDM) searches. Although it is possible to evade EDM constraints

²We assume here that *D*-term breaking effects are subdominant [42].

for moderate values of the BMSSM phases³, in the following for simplicity we assume CP conservation and set these phases to zero. This assumption is of mild importance as the Higgs spectrum is only corrected by the real part of $\epsilon_{1,2}$ at leading order [28]. We are however left with possible relative signs between the μ -parameter and the gaugino masses $M_{1,2}$. We choose to work in a basis where $\mu > 0$ while $M_{1,2}$ could have either sign.

Finally, EW symmetry breaking occurs through the usual interplay between the quadratic and quartic terms in the scalar potential (see Ref. [45] for an alternative scenario). We parameterize the resulting vacuum expectation values (VEV) of $h_{u,d}$ as

$$\langle h_u \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ v \sin \beta \end{pmatrix}, \quad \langle h_d \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} v \cos \beta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (2.6)$$

with $v \simeq 174 \,\text{GeV}$ and $0 \le \beta \le \pi/2$.

2.1 Higgs boson mass

Around the vacuum of Eq. (2.6) the mass of the lightest CP-even Higgs boson h is

$$m_h^2 = m_{h,0}^2 + \delta_\epsilon^2 + \delta_{\rm rad}^2,$$
 (2.7)

where $m_{h,0}^2 \leq m_Z^2$ is the tree-level MSSM prediction, $\delta_{\rm rad}^2$ represents radiative corrections dominated by top/stop loops, and [28]

$$\delta_{\epsilon}^{2} = 2v^{2} \left(\epsilon_{2} - 2\epsilon_{1} \sin 2\beta - \frac{2\epsilon_{1}x \sin 2\beta + \epsilon_{2}y \cos^{2}2\beta}{\sqrt{y^{2} + (x^{2} - y^{2}) \sin^{2}2\beta}} \right)$$
(2.8)

is the leading tree-level correction arising from the effective operators in Eqs.(2.1) and (2.2). In Eq.(2.8), we defined $x = m_A^2 + m_Z^2$ and $y = m_A^2 - m_Z^2$, where m_A denotes the CP-odd Higgs mass. The mass of the heavy CP-even Higgs scalar as well as the angle α setting the orientation of mass eigenstates relative to the vacuum are also corrected at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$. We refer the reader to Appendix A for further details.

In the MSSM ($\delta_{\epsilon} = 0$), $m_h^2 \simeq (125 \,\text{GeV})^2$ is only obtained at the expense of radiative corrections almost as large as the tree-level contribution $\delta_{\text{rad}} \sim m_{h,0}^2$ and for large tan β . This implies large SUSY-breaking soft terms for the third generation squarks, $m_{\text{soft}} \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(1 \,\text{TeV})$, which by itself reintroduces a fine-tuning of the EW scale at the percent level or worse [13, 46]. For a relatively low BMSSM scale $M \simeq \mathcal{O}(\text{few TeV})$, this tension can be significantly relaxed. Furthermore, for $-\epsilon_1 \simeq \mathcal{O}(0.1)$ it is even

 $^{^{3}}$ The BMSSM phases could be large enough to drive successful EW baryogenesis in the early Universe [44].



Figure 1. Contours of ϵ_1 values required in order to obtain $m_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ as function of m_A and $\tan \beta$, for $\epsilon_2 = 0$ and assuming (top) $\delta_{\text{rad}}^2 = 0$ or (bottom) $\delta_{\text{rad}}^2 = (50 \text{ GeV})^2$. The region where the Higgs mass correction is no longer dominated by the leading order effect from the dimension five operator in Eq. (2.1) ($|\epsilon_1| \tan \beta \ge 1$) is shown in red.

possible to accommodate a 125 GeV Higgs already at tree-level [28], which corre-

sponds to a BMSSM scale of $M \simeq 1 \text{ TeV} \times \lambda_1 (\mu/100 \text{ GeV})^4$. Direct searches at the LHC limit lightest stop masses to values which strongly depend on the LSP mass. Current limits are as high as $m_{\tilde{t}} \gtrsim 670 \text{ GeV}$ for a massless LSP, and weaken for a heavier LSP [47, 48].⁵ For a $\simeq 150 \text{ GeV}$ LSP, top squarks as light as $\simeq 300 \text{ GeV}$ are allowed. The value of ϵ_1 needed to bring the Higgs mass prediction in the BMSSM at the observed value varies as a function of $\tan \beta$ and m_A . Figure 1 illustrates this dependence, as dictated by Eq. (2.8), for $\delta_{\rm rad}^2 = 0$ and $\delta_{\rm rad}^2 = (50 \text{ GeV})^2$, corresponding to unmixed degenerate top squarks of $\mathcal{O}(300 \text{ GeV})$ mass, respectively. Because of its SUSY-breaking origin the ϵ_2 effect is parametrically subdominant relative to that of ϵ_1 , as easily appreciable in the decoupling limit $m_A \gg m_Z$ where

$$\delta_{\epsilon}^2 \simeq -8v^2 \left(\epsilon_1 \sin 2\beta - \frac{\sin^2 2\beta}{4}\epsilon_2\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2}\right) \,. \tag{2.9}$$

For instance, taking $m_A \simeq 300 \text{ GeV}$ and $\tan \beta \simeq 3$, the ϵ_2 value required to obtain the correct Higgs mass at tree-level (assuming $\epsilon_1 = 0$) is a factor $\simeq 4 \tan \beta \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$ larger than that of ϵ_1 (assuming $\epsilon_2 = 0$). Note also that both $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ effects are suppressed at large $\tan \beta$.⁶ Higher orders typically do not suffer from such a suppression [38]. Therefore, for sufficiently large $\tan \beta$, the Higgs mass correction is no longer dominated by $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$ effects. This signals a lack of predictivity of the EFT with regards to the light CP-even Higgs mass. We therefore choose to restrict our analysis to $\tan \beta$ values low enough so that the EFT prediction in Eq. (A.3) at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ for m_h is reliable, which is the case for $|\epsilon_1|/\tan \beta \gtrsim \epsilon_1^2$ or, equivalently,

$$\tan \beta \lesssim |\epsilon_1|^{-1} \sim \mathcal{O}(10) \,. \tag{2.10}$$

This is in contrast with the renormalizable MSSM where much larger $\tan \beta$ values are allowed. Since the ϵ_2 contribution remains negligibly small whenever the EFT description is valid and does not correlate with DM observables through the Higgsino sector, we choose to ignore it and set $\epsilon_2 = 0$.

The effective operator in Eq. (2.1) also induces a second (remote) vacuum at $\langle h_u^0 \rangle \simeq \langle h_d^0 \rangle \sim \sqrt{\mu M} \ll M$, in the presence of which the EW vacuum of Eq. (2.6) may be unacceptably short-lived [52]. Stability of the EW vacuum along the dangerous

⁴The range of validity of the EFT could be pushed to $M \sim \mathcal{O}(10 \text{ TeV})$ if the new sector is strongly coupled at the cut-off with $\lambda_1 \sim 4\pi$.

⁵Top squarks close to kinematic thresholds yield too soft decay products and cannot be excluded by direct LHC searches. These stealthy regions [49] can nevertheless be probed by either precise cross section [50] or spin-spin correlation [51] measurements in top pair production.

⁶This is in contrast with, for instance, gauge extensions of the MSSM which enhance the Higgs mass through non-decoupled *D*-terms [16–20], a contribution of SUSY-breaking origin which increases with $\tan \beta$.

D-flat direction is guaranteed under the condition (assuming $\epsilon_2 = 0$) [52]

$$\mu \lesssim m_A \sqrt{\frac{1+\sin 2\beta}{2}} \left[1 + \frac{8v^2}{m_A^2} \left(\frac{1+2\sin 2\beta}{1+\sin 2\beta} - \frac{3}{2} \right) \right]^{1/2}, \qquad (2.11)$$

which we shall assume true in this paper. Strictly speaking, a mild violation of this condition is still allowed as a meta-stable EW vacuum remains phenomenologically viable provided its lifetime exceeds the age of the Universe. A careful analysis of the tunneling rate reveals that the condition in Eq. (2.11), besides being more practical, is rather accurate and slightly conservative [52]. Away from this *D*-flat direction, the MSSM *D*-terms stabilize the EW vacuum provided $\epsilon_1^2 \leq m_Z^2/4v^2$ [52], *i.e.* $|\epsilon_1| \leq 0.25$, which, according to Fig. 1, is always fulfilled whenever Eq. (2.10) holds.

3 BMSSM Electroweak Fine-tuning

The Z boson mass and $\tan \beta$ are set by the minimization conditions of the scalar potential assuming the vacuum in Eq. (2.6). To leading order in $\epsilon_{1,2}$, we find the tree-level relations

$$m_Z^2 = \frac{|m_{H_d}^2 - m_{H_u}^2|}{\sqrt{1 - \sin^2 2\beta}} - m_{H_u}^2 - m_{H_d}^2 - 2\mu^2 + 4\epsilon_1 v^2 \sin 2\beta , \qquad (3.1)$$

and

$$\sin 2\beta = \frac{2b}{m^2} + \frac{4v^2}{m^2} \left[\epsilon_1 \left(1 + 4\frac{b^2}{m^4} \right) - \epsilon_2 \frac{b}{m^2} \right], \qquad (3.2)$$

where $m^2 \equiv m_{H_u}^2 + m_{H_d}^2 + 2\mu^2$. The stability of the EW scale well below the cutoff scale is threatened whenever some mass parameters in Eq. (3.1) take values much larger than m_Z unless an unnatural cancellation among these parameters occurs. We quantify the amount of fine-tuning associated with a model's parameter p through a Barbieri–Giudice measure⁷ [53]

$$\Delta_p \equiv \left| \frac{\partial \log m_Z^2}{\partial \log p} \right| \,. \tag{3.3}$$

Under the assumption that all Δ_p 's are independent, a global measure of fine-tuning is obtained by summing them in quadrature

$$\Delta \equiv \sqrt{\Delta_0^2 + \Delta_{\rm rad}^2}, \quad \Delta_0 \equiv \sqrt{\sum_p \Delta_p^2} \tag{3.4}$$

where the sum runs over $p = \mu, b, m_{H_u}^2, m_{H_d}^2, \epsilon_1, \epsilon_2$. $\Delta > 1$ means an overall finetuning of $1/\Delta$. Δ_{rad} parameterizes the fine-tuning associated with the set of MSSM

⁷Fine-tuning measures are subjective to some extent, and the resulting estimates are not particularly sharp quantitatively. However, the *difference* of fine-tuning between two sets of model parameters is a more physically robust quantity.

parameters which only contribute to the relation Eq. (3.1) at loop level, of which the stop quark masses and mixing parameter (and to lesser extend the gluino mass) are the most relevant.

Within the MSSM, $m_h \simeq 125 \,\text{GeV}$ requires large stop masses and/or mixing which enter Eq. (3.1) quadratically through one-loop renormalization of the Higgs soft masses. As argued in section 2.1, large SUSY-breaking effects are no longer necessary in the top/stop sector in the presence of the higher dimensional operator in Eq. (2.1). The overall fine-tuning is then dominated by the relative sensitivity of m_Z^2 to the tree-level parameters listed above. This tree-level source of fine-tuning typically correlates with DM observables, mostly through the μ -paremeter [31, 32]. The null results of DM direct detection searches and the thermal relic density already strongly constrain the composition of the lightest neutralino, which in turn implies a non-negligible source of fine-tuning Δ_0 .

The effective operators in Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2) modify the Higgs scalar spectrum and the vacuum, hence Δ_0 , in a correlated way. The complete analytical expressions, corrected at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$, for the Δ_p 's are rather lengthy and can be found in Appendix D.

We show in Fig. 2 the relative variation of Δ_0 between the BMSSM and the MSSM as function of the MSSM Δ_0 for several values of $\tan \beta$ and m_A . As clearly apparent the tree-level fine-tuning can be improved, most notably for moderately low $\tan \beta \leq 4$ and light $m_A \leq 300 \,\text{GeV}$. The improvement can reach up to $\sim \mathcal{O}(40\%)$ when $\Delta_0 \simeq 20$, which corresponds to $\mu \simeq 100 \,\text{GeV}$. For larger Δ_0 values, Fig. 2 further illustrates a significant limitation in the fine-tuning improvement in the BMSSM due to the vacuum stability constraint. Equation (2.11) indeed requires, relative to the MSSM, larger values of m_A for a fixed μ -parameter. The implications of the BMSSM stability constraint are easily understood by expanding the tree-level fine-tuning in the large $\tan \beta$ limit (yet still satisfying Eq. (2.10)). The dominant fine-tuning sources to leading order in $\eta \equiv \tan^{-1} \beta$ are

$$\Delta_{\mu} \simeq \frac{4\mu^2}{m_Z^2} \left(1 + 8\eta \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{m_A^2} + \mathcal{O}(\eta^2) \right) , \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\Delta_{m_{H_u}^2} \simeq \left(1 + \frac{2\mu^2}{m_Z^2}\right) \left[1 + 4\eta \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{m_A^2} \left(1 - \frac{2m_A^2}{m_Z^2 + 2\mu^2}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\eta^2)\right], \quad (3.6)$$

to leading $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$, while

$$\Delta_b \simeq 2\Delta_{m_{H_d}^2} \simeq \frac{2\eta^2 m_A^2}{m_Z^2} \,, \tag{3.7}$$

could also be relevant whenever $m_A \gtrsim \mu \tan \beta$. We first observe from the above expressions that the higher-dimensional operator of Eq. (2.1) typically helps in reducing the tree-level fine-tuning whenever effective in bringing m_h up to the observed value at the classical level, *i.e.* for $\epsilon_1 < 0$. Equations (3.5) and (3.6) also show that



Figure 2. Relative tree-level fine-tuning variation between the BMSSM and the MSSM with same MSSM parameter values, for various $\tan \beta$ (upper panel) and m_A (lower panel) values. For the BMSSM, the effective operator ϵ_1 is set in order to obtain $m_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ at tree-level with $\epsilon_2 = 0$. $\delta \Delta < 0$ corresponds to an improved fine-tuning relative to the MSSM. Grey points are strongly disfavored as they violate the stability condition of Eq. (2.11).

the fine-tuning improvement from the presence of the BMSSM operator is reduced for larger tan β . Furthermore, at fixed μ , the large m_A required by vacuum stability tends to suppress the ϵ_1 corrections to the leading fine-tuning contribution Δ_{μ} and $\Delta_{m_{H_u}^2}$, while increasing the sub-leading ones, in particular Δ_b and $\Delta_{m_{H_d}^2}$, relative to the MSSM. We finally stress that in the context of neutralino DM, the tension between fine-tuning and direct DM searches is most pronounced in the limit of large μ -parameter where the LSP is a nearly pure gaugino. However, in this case, as reviewed in the next section, large tan β values suppress the leading amplitude for LSP-nucleon (SI) scattering and thus partially relax the tension with EW naturalness. We therefore do not expect any significant fine-tuning improvement at fixed $\tan\beta$ in the BMSSM.

4 Detection and relic density of neutralino dark matter

The effective operator in Eq. (2.1) further modifies the neutralino and chargino properties, through the Lagrangian in Eq. (2.5). In a natural theory where the stop quarks are light and unmixed, these modifications are tightly correlated with the Higgs boson mass through ϵ_1 . The lightest neutralino, henceforth denoted χ , is a general admixture of the four current states $\psi^0 = (\tilde{B}, \tilde{W}^3, \tilde{h}^0_d, \tilde{h}^0_u)^T$ and reads

$$\chi = \mathcal{N}_{\chi k} \psi_k^0, \quad \mathcal{N}_{jk} = \epsilon^{i\phi_j} \mathcal{Z}_{jk} \tag{4.1}$$

where \mathcal{Z} is the orthogonal matrix diagonalizing the neutralino mass matrix \mathcal{M}_{χ_0} , *i.e.* $\mathcal{Z}\mathcal{M}_{\chi_0}\mathcal{Z}^T = \operatorname{diag}(m_{\chi}, \ldots)$, and $\phi_{\chi} = 0$ ($\pi/2$) for $m_{\chi} > 0$ (< 0). We evaluate numerically the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ effect on the lightest neutralino composition. Nevertheless, direct DM searches already strongly disfavor neutralino LSP's which are strong admixtures of gaugino and Higgsino states [31]. Indeed, as shown in Fig. 3, low fine-tuning scenarios ($\mu \sim \mathcal{O}(100 \,\mathrm{GeV})$) with significant \tilde{B}/\tilde{h} or \tilde{W}/\tilde{h} mixing are in tension with direct DM searches at the LUX experiment [9] by one order of magnitude in the neutralino-nucleon scattering cross-section. In order to gain insight into the consequences of the BMSSM modifications we derive approximate analytical expressions for the lightest neutralino mass and composition in the cases where χ is almost a

1. pure bino state, with $M_1 \lesssim M_2 \ll \mu$,

or a

2. pure Higgsino state, with $\mu \leq M_{1,2}$.

Although well-tempered scenarios with a strongly mixed \tilde{B}/\tilde{W} LSP are motivated by the relic abundance [54], we focus for simplicity on gaugino LSP without wino projection. Since g > g', the latter would lead to a larger signal in direct DM searches. Hence case 1) suffices in capturing the effect of the BMSSM operator in gaugino-like LSP scenarios where the scattering cross section on nucleons is minimal. We gather in Appendix B, for both cases, all relevant expressions to leading $\mathcal{O}(m_Z)$, including $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ corrections.

4.1 Gaugino dark matter and direct detection

Gaugino DM requires a μ -parameter significantly larger than the lowest of M_1 and M_2 . In this case, direct DM searches constitute a significant source of pressure on EW naturalness, which increases with the LSP mass [31]. The tension stems from the fact that the tree-level fine-tuning is minimal for low μ values, while direct

detection limits the Higgsino fraction of the LSP, thus favoring large μ values. A rather natural gaugino DM scenario could still be consistent with direct searches if the LSP is sufficiently light to avoid a significant decoupling of the Higgsino above the weak scale, $m_{\chi} \simeq 10 - 30 \text{ GeV}$. Gaugino LSP's in this mass range are mostly bino-like in order to avoid excessively large chargino pair production cross-sections at LEP2. Note however that light bino DM thermal relics are typically overabundant due to their small hypercharge couplings to fermions, unless at least one of the following well-known exceptions [55] is realized. Bino annihilation into fermion pairs can be significantly enhanced through either t-channel exchange of light sfermions (mostly right-handed staus), or Z or Higgs bosons resonances [56–58], with $m_{\chi} \simeq m_{h,Z}/2$. Strong bino co-annihilation with either light right-handed staus with $m_{\tilde{\tau}_R} \simeq m_{\chi}$ [59, 60], or light stops [34] are also possible. However, in the MSSM, a sufficient increase of the bino annihilation cross section through stau exchange or resonant enhancement is in conflict with collider constraints for $m_{\chi} \lesssim 15 \text{ GeV}$ [61] and $m_{\chi} \lesssim 30 \text{ GeV}$ [62], respectively.

The SI scattering of χ onto nucleons is typically dominated by the SM-like Higgs t-channel exchange, whose relevant h-to- $\chi\chi$ coupling is

$$\mathcal{L}_{h\chi\chi} = \frac{1}{2} g_{h\chi\chi} h \chi^T \chi \,, \tag{4.2}$$

with

$$g_{h\chi\chi} = g(\mathcal{N}_{\chi 2} - t_W \mathcal{N}_{\chi 1})(\mathcal{N}_{\chi 3} \sin \alpha + \mathcal{N}_{\chi 4} \cos \alpha) + \delta g_{h\chi\chi} , \qquad (4.3)$$

where the angle α parameterizes the orientation of the CP-even Higgs mass eigenstates relative to the vacuum (see Eq. (A.2)), and

$$\delta g_{h\chi\chi} = -2\sqrt{2} \frac{\epsilon_1 v}{\mu} \left[2\cos(\alpha + \beta) \mathcal{N}_{\chi 3} \mathcal{N}_{\chi 4} + \cos\alpha \sin\beta \mathcal{N}_{\chi 3}^2 - \sin\alpha \cos\beta \mathcal{N}_{\chi 4}^2 \right] .$$
(4.4)

The effective Lagrangian in Eq. (2.5) modifies the Higgs coupling to χ pairs at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$. These corrections arise on the one hand through modification of the $\mathcal{N}_{\chi i}$'s dictating the LSP composition as well as through the introduction of new Higgs-Higgsino interactions leading to Eq. (4.4). Note that contrary to the MSSM, $g_{h\chi\chi}$ no longer vanishes in the limit where χ is a pure Higgsino state ($\mathcal{N}_{k1,2} = 0$), albeit the non-zero coupling only contributes at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1^2)$ in scattering cross sections.

Expanding to leading order in the \tilde{B}/h mixing, the Higgs coupling to χ pairs in the bino-like LSP case is (see Appendix B)

$$g_{h\chi\chi}^{\tilde{B}} \simeq \frac{2g'm_Z s_W}{\mu} \left(\frac{1}{\tan\beta} + \frac{M_1}{2\mu} - \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu^2}\right) \tag{4.5}$$

up to (neglected) $\mathcal{O}(\tan^{-2}\beta)$ and $\mathcal{O}(m_Z^2)$, where we assumed the decoupling limit in which $\sin \alpha \to -\cos \beta$, $\cos \alpha \to \sin \beta$. The leading term in Eq. (4.5) is suppressed at large $\tan \beta$, and in this case the coupling is controlled by higher orders of M_1/μ

growing with the LSP mass $m_{\chi} \simeq M_1$. Equation (4.5) shows that the effective operator in Eq. (2.1) always increases the Higgs coupling to LSP pairs whenever used to make $m_h \gtrsim m_Z$ at tree-level, *i.e.* for $\epsilon_1 < 0$, unless M_1 and μ have opposite signs and $\mu \lesssim |M_1| \tan \beta/2$. Furthermore, the $\tan \beta$ -suppression of the leading term in Eq. (4.5) is typically much less effective in the BMSSM as $\tan \beta$ is limited by the condition (2.10), while it can easily exceed $\mathcal{O}(10)$ in the MSSM. Therefore, at fixed DM mass and fine-tuning, the scattering cross section on nucleons is expected to be significantly larger in the BMSSM relative to the MSSM. We investigate in full numerical detail the BMSSM implications for the connection between fine-tuning and direct DM searches in the case of gaugino-like LSPs in Sec. 5.3.

4.2 Relic density of Higgsino dark matter

Higgsino DM, with a relatively light μ -parameter, is typically more favored by EW naturalness, as apparent in Eq. (3.3). There is therefore no tension with direct searches in this case. The Higgs coupling to Higgsino-like LSP pairs in the limit of decoupled wino is (see Appendix B)

$$g_{h\chi\chi}^{\tilde{h}-\text{like}} \simeq \frac{g'm_Z s_W}{2M_1} \left(1 + \sin 2\beta - \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu^2} \cos^2 2\beta \right) - \sqrt{2} \frac{\epsilon_1 v}{\mu} \left(1 - 2\sin 2\beta \right) \,, \quad (4.6)$$

up to $\mathcal{O}(\mu/M_1)$, assuming again the decoupling limit. The last term in Eq. (4.6) originates from Eq. (4.4). Since $\cos 2\beta < 0$, the effective operator always reduces the MSSM-like contribution to the $h\chi\chi$ coupling whenever used to increase m_h ($\epsilon_1 < 0$), while the direct BMSSM contribution $\delta g_{h\chi\chi}$ increases the overall coupling for $\tan \beta \gtrsim 3.7$. Note that the Higgs-to-LSP pair coupling remains sizable even in a limit where the gauginos are decoupled.

Other important quantities in the Higgsino-like LSP case are the mass splittings among the LSP, the next-to-lightest neutralino χ' and the lightest chargino χ^{\pm} , which control the annihilation and co-annihilation processes that determine the relic density of Higgsino-like neutralinos. While in the renormalizable MSSM the four Higgsino states $\tilde{h}_{u,d}^0$, \tilde{h}_d^- , \tilde{h}_u^+ are degenerate at tree-level, the effective operator of Eq. (2.1) contributes to the lightest neutralino and chargino state mass splittings as (see Appendix B)

$$\delta m_{\chi} \equiv m_{\chi'} - m_{\chi} = -\frac{2\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu} + \frac{m_W^2}{M_2} + \frac{m_Z^2 s_W^2}{M_1}, \qquad (4.7)$$

$$\delta m_{\tilde{C}} \equiv m_{\tilde{C}} - m_{\chi} = (1 - \sin 2\beta) \left(-\frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu} + \frac{m_W^2}{2M_2} \right) + (1 + \sin 2\beta) \frac{m_Z^2 s_W^2}{2M_1}, \quad (4.8)$$

up to (neglected) terms of $\mathcal{O}(1/M_{1,2}^2)$. $\delta m_{\tilde{C}}$ and δm_{χ} as large as $\simeq 34 \,\text{GeV}$ and 90 GeV, respectively, are obtained for $\mu = 80 \,\text{GeV}$, $m_A = 300 \,\text{GeV}$ and $\tan \beta = 8$, in

the $M_{1,2} \to \infty$ limit. These large $\delta m_{\tilde{C}}$ values allow for a scenario where the Higgsinolike LSP lies below the W mass, thus strongly suppressing annihilation (as well as coannihilation) processes into weak gauge bosons in the early Universe which leads to the correct relic density while keeping the lightest chargino \tilde{C} above the LEP2 kinematic limit [63], see Eq. (5.4). We analyse in further detail the feasibility of such a scenario, with emphasis on its implications for EW naturalness, in Sec. 5.4.

5 Dark matter implications for BMSSM naturalness

We present the implications of DM constraints for BMSSM naturalness assuming all the DM consists of a lightest neutralino relic. We further assume that the LSP is exactly stable, e.g. protected by R-parity. We assume that all sfermions and the gluino are heavy enough to play a negligible role in the analysis. Although weak scale naturalness requires top (and left-handed bottom) squarks and to a (loop-factor) lower extent the gluino to be light [53], their presence can only qualitatively improve the model's agreement with DM direct detection data through large cancellations among *a priori* unrelated parameters in the low-energy theory. Unless it is possible to derive these relations from additional structures in specific UV completions, such cancellations should be interpreted as purely accidental, and as such they would always qualitatively worsen the overall degree of fine-tuning. Then, barring such accidents, the effect of light top squark in *e.g.* neutralino-nucleon scattering or neutralino annihilation only constitutes an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ correction to the processes considered in the present analysis. Hence, one is left with an irreducible source of pressure on naturalness through the m_Z sensitivity in Eq. (3.4) which, interestingly enough, is directly tied to DM observables.

Under this assumption, DM phenomenology and EW tree-level fine-tuning are described by only five parameters

$$\tan \beta, \ m_A, \ \mu, \ M_1, \ M_2.$$
 (5.1)

We set the value of the BMSSM operator ϵ_1 so that $m_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$ at tree-level, according to Eqs. (A.3) and (2.8). We further assume a vanishing SUSY-breaking operator $\epsilon_2 = 0$. Non-vanishing values for the latter would affect our analysis as follows. $\epsilon_2 > 0$ would imply a smaller $|\epsilon_1|$ which in turn would reduce the BMSSM effects on the Higgsino sector, therefore loosening the connection between corrections to m_h and DM observables inherent to the BMSSM. On the other hand, $\epsilon_2 < 0$ would push $|\epsilon_1|$ to unacceptably large values in order to maintain $m_h = 125 \,\text{GeV}$ at treelevel. This would signal a breakdown of the EFT described in Sec. 2, and would therefore reintroduce fine-tuning through a large radiative correction to the Higgs mass. In both cases the situation would appear similar to that of the MSSM with a mostly radiatively induced Higgs mass with no relation to the neutralino sector. Dark matter observables were computed numerically as follows. The neutralinonucleon scattering cross sections for direct detection⁸ and the thermal relic density were computed with micrOMEGAs 3.6.8 [64], where BMSSM Feynman rules were implemented with the help of the LanHEP package [65]. In particular, we have taken special care to keep only effects to $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ in m_h , according to Eq. (2.8). Whenever relevant, the Higgs boson width into neutralino pairs and electroweakino production cross sections at colliders were computed with the CalcHEP package [66, 67].

5.1 Constraints

We list in this section the DM related and collider contraints relevant to our analysis. These are:

• Direct DM searches constraints from the first run of the LUX experiment [9]. This is the most stringent direct detection constraint to date in the mass range of interest, $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 15 \,\text{GeV}$ and below a few TeV. The current 90% confidence level (CL) limit from LUX on the (SI) DM-nucleon cross section peaks at

$$\sigma_{\rm SI}^{\rm LUX} \simeq 7.6 \times 10^{-46} \,{\rm cm}^2 \,,$$
 (5.2)

for $m_{\chi} \simeq 33 \,\text{GeV}$. The limit is significantly relaxed at larger masses, reaching *i.e.* $\sigma_{\text{SI}}^{LUX} \simeq 1.1 \times 10^{-44} \,\text{cm}^2$ for $m_{\chi} \simeq 1 \,\text{TeV}$. We also occasionally use for illustration the projected sensitivities of future experiments with the XENON1T [68] and LZ [69] detectors, which are expected to peak respectively at $\sigma_{\text{SI}}^{\text{X1T}} \simeq 2 \times 10^{-47} \,\text{cm}^2$ for $m_{\chi} \simeq 55 \,\text{GeV}$, and $\sigma_{\text{SI}}^{\text{LZ}} \simeq 1.4 \times 10^{-48} \,\text{cm}^2$ for $m_{\chi} \simeq 55 \,\text{GeV}$. Whenever imposing this constraint, we further assume for simplicity that the local DM density has the canonical 0.3 GeV cm⁻³ value ⁹, regardless of whether the predicted DM density precisely coincides with the observed one. This is a reasonable approach for regions of parameter space which yield a relic density in the right ballpark, given that its computation by **micrOMEGAs** is only performed at tree-level, while sizable radiative corrections could arise in dominant annihilation channels [71–74].

• The DM relic density derived from the combined (CMB+BAO+ H_0) WMAP 9-year results [75], which is

$$\Omega_{\rm CDM}^{\rm WMAP9} h^2 = 0.1153 \pm 0.0019\,, \tag{5.3}$$

for its central value and standard deviation, respectively. Again, due to theoretical uncertainties in the relic density calculation, we consider agreement with the WMAP result within three standard deviations as reasonably satisfactory.

⁸We review the calculation of the SI cross section, and specify our assumed values for the relevant hadronic form factors in Appendix C.

⁹This value, which is conventionally used by direct DM searches experimental collaborations, is further supported by observations of galactic dynamics of the Milky Way [70].

• The LEP bound on light chargino states [63]. The chargino mass constraint is only of crucial importance for light Higgsino DM with $m_{\chi} \lesssim 80 \,\text{GeV}$. We require in our analysis the lightest chargino to be above the LEP2 kinematic limit

$$m_{\tilde{C}} \gtrsim 103 \,\mathrm{GeV} \,.$$
 (5.4)

We have refrained from imposing the less stringent bound of 94 GeV [76] often adopted in the literature, which only applies to very specific configurations which are irrelevant here. Those include a largely destructive interference with a light sneutrino exchange [76] for chargino pair production at e^+e^- colliders. We also checked that Higgsino DM scenarios with $m_{\tilde{C}} < 103$ GeV yield chargino pair production cross sections always far above the ADLO combined limit at LEP2 [63]. We will, however, allow for a $\simeq 5$ GeV loosening of Eq. (5.4) when comparing to the tree-level Higgsino spectrum computed within micrOMEGAs. This accounts for the maximal radiative corrections (dominated by stop and sbottom loops) to the neutral-charged Higgsino mass splitting allowed by EW precision data [77]. Note that light charginos with a large Higgsino component easily evade LHC constraints due to their small mass splitting with the LSP [78, 79]. We have moreover explicitly checked that the production cross section for $\chi_2^0\chi_1^+$, falls below the sensitivity of ATLAS [80].

• The LHC bound on the invisible decay branching ratio of the Higgs boson, which is relevant for bino-like DM of mass less than $m_h/2 \simeq 63 \,\text{GeV}$. We adopt the 95% CL limit resulting from a global fit to all existing LHC run 1 and LEP data from *e.g.* Ref. [81],

$$\operatorname{Br}(h \to \operatorname{inv}) \lesssim 0.5$$
. (5.5)

We recall that the above limit is not stricly limited to Higgs branching ratios into invisible particles but actually applies to the total Higgs branching ratio into all untagged final states, including *e.g.* jets. We conservatively assume here that Eq. (5.5) constrains the $h \to \chi \chi$ decay, whenever kinematically accessible.

• The stability condition of Eq. (2.11) for the EW vacuum in the presence of the effective BMSSM operator in Eq. (2.1), as well as $\tan \beta < |\epsilon_1^{-1}|$ in order to warrant good control of the Higgs boson mass within the EFT as discussed in Sec. 2.

5.2 Direct detection of neutralino dark matter

The SI scattering cross section of DM on $protosn^{10}$ is dominated by *t*-channel exchange of CP-even neutral Higgs bosons and resonant squark exchange. We only

¹⁰The equivalent cross section on neutrons is of comparable magnitude unless DM interactions with quarks significantly violate weak isospin. The resulting cross section on large nuclei like

consider here the former contribution, since it directly relates to the EW fine-tuning defined in Eq. (3.4). Barring accidental cancellations, s-channel exchange of light squarks, albeit certainly of relevance for the third generation, would only increase the scattering cross section. In a limit where the SM-light Higgs boson exchange dominates $(m_A \gg m_h)$, and assuming $m_{\chi} \gg m_p \simeq 0.93$ GeV, the SI cross section for DM scattering on protons is approximately (see Appendix C)

$$\sigma_{\rm SI} \simeq \sigma_{\rm SI}^{\rm LUX} \times \left(\frac{g_{h\chi\chi}}{0.036}\right)^2 \,, \tag{5.6}$$

where $g_{h\chi\chi}$ is the Higgs-to-neutralino pairs coupling defined in Eq. (4.3) and $\sigma_{\rm SI}^{\rm LUX}$ is the best 90% CL limit from the first LUX results, see Eq. (5.2). This relation illustrates the tension that exists in neutralino DM scenarios between current direct searches and a weak-size ($g \simeq 0.65$) DM coupling to SM fields, and the WIMP miracle to a broader extent. Equations (5.6) and (4.3) show that direct DM searches constrain the LSP composition to nearly pure current states.

We performed a scan over the parameters in Eq. (5.1) in order to quantitatively illustrate how present direct DM searches severely constrain the composition of neutralino DM to be close to pure gaugino or Higgsino states (thus suppressing $g_{h\chi\chi}$). Figure 3 shows the resulting distribution of $\sigma_{\rm SI}$ as a function of the Higgsino fraction $F_{\tilde{H}} \equiv \mathcal{N}_{\chi 3}^2 + \mathcal{N}_{\chi 4}^2$, for $\sim \mathcal{O}(10^5)$ parameter space points both in the MSSM limit ($\epsilon_1 = 0$) and the BMSSM case where ϵ_1 was set to obtain $m_h = 125$ GeV at tree-level ¹¹. We assumed tan β to be randomly distributed in the range ¹²

MSSM :
$$\tan \beta \in [2, 50]$$
, BMSSM : $\tan \beta \in [2, 10]$, (5.7)

while the remaining four parameters were randomly varied, with uniform logarithmic distributions, within the ranges¹³

$$m_A \in [150, 8000] \,\text{GeV}\,, \quad \mu \in [55, 8000] \,\text{GeV}\,,$$
 (5.8)

$$M_1 \in [10, 8000] \,\text{GeV}\,, \quad M_2 \in [100, 8000] \,\text{GeV}\,,$$

$$(5.9)$$

Xenon could accidentally be significantly reduced if the DM couplings to protons and neutrons have a relative sign, see *e.g.* Ref. [82, 83]. Motivated by naturalness, we do not give in to this possibility in this paper and we consider direct searches on heavy nuclei as directly bounding the DM coupling to protons or, equivalently, neutrons.

¹¹In the MSSM, the observed value of the Higgs mass cannot be recovered classically. In this case stop quark parameters (among others) need to be ajusted so that $m_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ with the inclusion of radiative corrections. We assumed implicitly that this is the case, regardless of the amount of radiative fine-tuning Δ_{rad} induced.

¹²In this range both top and bottom Yukawa couplings in the MSSM remain perturbative up to the GUT scale in models with universal boundary conditions at the GUT scale [84].

¹³The higher end of the considered intervals for m_A and $M_{1,2}$ implies SUSY breaking soft terms potentially much larger than the BMSSM scale M, which would invalidate the supersymmetric EFT approach employed in our analysis. A possible workaround is to assume that the new interactions beyond the MSSM are relatively strong, *i.e.* $\lambda_1 \sim 4\pi$. In this case, for $|\epsilon_1| \simeq 0.1$ and $\mu \simeq 100$ GeV, the EFT cut-off could be raised to $M \sim \mathcal{O}(10 \text{ TeV})$.

in both the MSSM and BMSSM cases. Note that either of M_1 and M_2 could in principle carry a relative sign with respect to μ . In a basis where $\mu > 0$, negative $M_{1,2}$ values could yield large cancellations in the Higgs exchange amplitude for direct detection (see for instance Eq. (4.5)), which would lead to SI cross sections orders of magnitude below the present LUX limit [31, 32, 85, 86]. Given the *a priori* accidental nature of such cancellations, we do not consider these blind spots as natural regions of the parameter space. Away from these regions, the relative signs between μ and $M_{1,2}$ do not yield significantly different predictions for SI scattering or annihilation cross sections. Hence, we choose to focus on positive values only. Unless specified otherwise, we discard points which do not satisfy the kinematic LEP2 bound on the lightest chargino of Eq. (5.4), as well as those in the BMSSM for which the vacuum is not stable according to Eq. (2.11) or where $|\epsilon_1| \tan \beta \leq 1$.

The upper panel of Fig. 3 shows that light LSP's with $m_{\chi} \sim \mathcal{O}(100 \,\text{GeV})$ are in at least one order of magnitude tension with the LUX experiment in the MSSM, unless they are close to pure gaugino $(F_{\tilde{H}} \lesssim 0.2)$ or pure Higgsino $(F_{\tilde{H}} \gtrsim 0.98)$ states ¹⁴. Heavy LSP's around $m_{\chi} \sim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ TeV})$ could however be consistent with LUX regardless of their composition, but at the price of significant fine-tuning. The lower panel of Fig. 3 demonstrates that these results persist qualitatively in the BMSSM, provided no large cancellations occur in the cross section. We point out that all sets of parameters with $F_{\tilde{H}} \simeq 0.5$ and $\sigma_{\rm SI}$ orders of magnitude below the current best LUX limit rely on accidental cancellations and thus display a significant sensitivity to a small variation of the MSSM parameters. Strong cancellations in the BMSSM can occur between the up- and down-type quark contributions to the scattering amplitude on protons when this is dominated by light Higgs exchange. This cancellation arises in regions of parameter space with $\alpha > 0$, which, as explained in Appendix C, is genuine to the BMSSM. Inspired by the fine-tuning measure associated with the m_Z sensitivity in Eq. (3.4), we use a logarithmic measure to quantify the sensitivity of the SI scattering cross section

$$\Delta \sigma_{\rm SI} \equiv \sqrt{\sum_{p} \left(\frac{d \log \sigma_{\rm SI}}{d \log p}\right)^2},\tag{5.10}$$

with $p = \mu, M_1, M_2, m_A, \tan \beta$. Figure 3 shows that light LSP's with $\Delta \sigma_{\rm SI} \lesssim 10$ only agree with the LUX results for either $F_{\tilde{H}} \lesssim 0.1$ or $F_{\tilde{H}} \gtrsim 0.95$. We further analyse in greater detail in the next subsections the impact of DM constraints on the BMSSM fine-tuning, as well as the corresponding differences with respect to the renormalizable MSSM, for gaugino-like and Higgsino-like LSP.

¹⁴A qualitatively similar result was obtained in Ref. [31]. Our results differ to some extent quantitatively mostly due to the use of more up-to-date nuclear form factors as decribed in Appendix C.



Figure 3. Spin-independent cross section for DM scattering on protons as a function of the lightest neutralino Higgsino fraction in the MSSM (upper panel) and the BMSSM (lower panel). The MSSM parameters are varied according to Eqs. (5.7) and (5.8). The solid (dashed) grey line shows the current 90% CL limit from LUX [9] for $m_{\chi} = 33 \text{ GeV}$ (1 TeV). In the BMSSM, colors correspond to different levels of log-sensitivity of the cross section with $\Delta_{\sigma_{\text{SI}}}$ below 5 (blue), between 5 and 10 (green), 10 and 50 (orange), 50 and 100 (red) and above 100 (brown). For all points, the EW vacuum is exactly stable.

5.3 Gaugino dark matter

We consider here gaugino-like DM scenarios, which occur when M_1 and/or M_2 are much smaller than μ . In this section we focus on direct detection signals as in these scenarios they alone already significantly constrain EW naturalness. Further demanding the observed DM relic density to be thermally generated would require specific adjustements of unrelated parameters, which could be interpreted as an extra source of fine-tuning. Given the different origin of the latter, we do not attempt to



Figure 4. Spin-independent DM scattering cross section off protons as a function of EW fine-tuning for gaugino DM with $F_{\tilde{H}} < 0.3$. Green points denote sets of parameters in the BMSSM that lead to accidentally small scattering cross section with $\Delta \sigma_{\rm SI} > 10$. The solid, dashed and dotted line represent the best sensitivities of the LUX, XENON1T and LZ experiments, respectively. For all points the EW vacuum is exactly stable.

combine it with the weak scale sensitivity in Eq. (3.4), which we thus regard as a lower bound on the overall fine-tuning of the model. For concreteness, we focus on sets of parameters where the LSP projection on Higgsino states is $F_{\tilde{H}} < 0.3$.

We plot in Fig. 4 their corresponding distributions in the $\sigma_{\rm SI} - \Delta_0$ plane for both the MSSM and BMSSM. We observe that the minimal scattering cross section in the BMSSM is a factor of $\simeq 25$ larger than in the MSSM for a given fine-tuning level and for roughly all values of Δ_0 . This difference is a direct consequence of the small $\tan \beta$ requirement of Eq. (2.10) which warrants the consistency of the effective BMSSM approach. The minimal cross section in both cases is dominated by the t-channel exchange of the SM-like Higgs, whose coupling to DM pairs is approximately $\propto \tan^{-1}\beta + m_{\chi}/(2\mu) - \epsilon_1 v^2/\mu^2$, as shown in Eq. (4.5) for bino DM. For $m_{\chi} \lesssim 2\mu/\tan\beta$, the first term dominates and the BMSSM minimal cross section is larger by roughly the square of the ratio of the MSSM maximal $\tan \beta$ to the BMSSM one, which is assumed here to be around 5. For larger LSP masses, the dominant contribution to the Higgs-to-DM pairs coupling is $\propto m_{\chi}/(2\mu)$ which is similar in both models. Note that larger m_{χ} in a gaugino DM scenario implies larger fine-tuning for fixed $F_{\tilde{H}}$. We show in Fig. 5 the minimal fine-tuning achievable in the MSSM and BMSSM for a given DM mass under the current LUX constraint and that of a future LZ experiment. In the mass region where direct searches are most sensitive, $m_{\chi} \simeq 30 - 50 \,\text{GeV}$, the LUX experiment forces the BMSSM, barring accidental cancellations (or equivalently for $\Delta \sigma_{\rm SI} < 10$), to be at least a factor of

 $\simeq 4$ more fine-tuned than the MSSM, again due to the low tan β restriction. In the same LSP mass region, this situation will be further aggravated to a point where the BMSSM will be a factor $\simeq 10$ more fine-tuned than the MSSM if no WIMP DM is observed at the future LZ experiment. We also note that a non-negligible fraction of the scenarios with $m\chi \lesssim \mathcal{O}(10)$ GeV evading direct detection constraints are in tension with the invisible Higgs decay constraint of Eq. (5.5). These points are in any case difficult to reconcile with the relic density constraint [61, 62]. For $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 200$ GeV the BMSSM and MSSM minimal levels of fine-tuning imposed by LUX are comparable and worse than a few percent. The solid lines on Fig. 5 denote the approximate minimal fine-tuning in agreement with LUX and LZ sensitivities derived through an analytical diagonalization of the neutralino mass matrix, as detailed in Appendix B.

5.4 Higgsino dark matter

We now move to consider Higgsino DM, which corresponds to μ being much smaller than $M_{1,2}$. We focus for concreteness on sets of parameters where the LSP has less than 30% projection on gaugino states, *i.e.* $F_{\tilde{H}} > 0.7$. Improvement of direct searches for Higgsino DM does not exert immediate pressure on naturalness as it would only force further decoupling of the gauginos, which does not reintroduce fine-tuning until $M_{1,2}$ enter the multi-TeV range. However, a tighter connection between DM and naturalness arises from imposing the thermal relic density constraint. Albeit favored by naturalness, Higgsino LSP is typically not the most favorable DM candidate since it annihilates too efficiently into weak bosons in the early Universe, unless the DM is sufficiently heavy, $m_{\chi} \simeq \mu \sim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ TeV})$, which in turn reintroduces large fine-tuning. This is a well-known result in the MSSM [54]. We show below that this conclusion still holds in the BMSSM. A possible way-out is to make the LSP light enough so that the (co-)annihilation channels are kinematically closed. This happens for $m_{\chi} \lesssim m_W - T_f$, where $T_f \simeq m_{\chi}/20 \simeq 3 - 5 \,\text{GeV}$ is the typical thermal DM energy at freeze-out. In the MSSM, however, this would lead to a light chargino below the W mass, which is excluded by direct LEP searches (see Eq. (5.4)). The BMSSM operator is crucial in relaxing this tension due to a potentially significant contribution to the chargino/LSP mass splitting at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ [33]. We show below that such a light Higgsino DM scenario is marginally resurrected in the BMSSM, at the expense of a one part in ten sensitivity to small variations of the model's parameters ¹⁵.

We show in the upper panel of Fig. 6 the relic density predicted in the BMSSM as a function of the DM mass, together with contours of tree-level EW fine-tuning Δ_0 .

¹⁵A much more optimistic result was obtained in Ref. [33], where a looser chargino mass bound of $m_{\tilde{C}} \gtrsim 94 \,\text{GeV}$ was assumed. We numerically checked that all scenarios with light Higgsino LSP of right abundance and a chargino below the LEP2 kinematical limit are in at least a factor of few tension with the combined LEP2 constraint on the chargino pair production cross section at $e^+e^$ colliders [63].



Figure 5. EW fine-tuning as a function of the lightest neutralino mass for gaugino DM $(F_{\tilde{H}} < 0.3)$, imposing the current LUX limit (upper panel) or the projected LZ sensitivity (lower panel). The low fine-tuning BMSSM points in green arise at the expense of a significant accidental cancellation in the scattering cross section of $\Delta \sigma_{\rm SI} > 10$. The cyan (orange) line denotes the minimal fine-tuning in the MSSM (BMSSM) derived through the approximate analytical diagonalization of the neutralino mass matrix, as shown in Appendix B. For all points the EW vacuum is exactly stable.

The LSP relic density reaches the WMAP9 level of Eq. (5.3) for $m_{\chi} \leq 80 \text{ GeV}$ and $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 1.1 \text{ TeV}$. As argued above, for Higgsino LSP above the W mass the resulting DM energy-density at freeze-out is overly suppressed, due to (co-)annihilations into gauge bosons, unless $m_{\chi} \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ TeV})$. The extreme efficiency of these channels results



Figure 6. [Upper panel] Neutralino relic density as a function of the LSP mass for Higgsino DM. The light green band depicts the 3σ -range favored by WMAP-9 for cold DM density values. Colors denote the variation of the EW fine-tuning Δ_0 defined in Eq. (3.4) with m_{χ} . For $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 150 \text{ GeV}$, $\Delta_0 \simeq \Delta_{\mu} \simeq \mathcal{O}(10) \times (m_{\chi}/150 \text{ GeV})^2$. [Lower panel] Spin-independent scattering cross section as a function of EW fine-tuning Δ_0 under the relic density constraint for Higgsino DM. Colors correspond to different requirements on the chargino mass and minimal amount of relic density.

from the near mass degeneracy of the LSP and the other Higgsino states, as well as the sizable SU(2) coupling among Higgsinos. As shown in Fig. 6 this conclusion barely changes in the presence of the BMSSM operator. The latter lifts the treelevel degeneracy among Higgsino states, which in turn suppresses co-annihilation processes, and modifies their coupling to the W and the Z at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$. However, both effects scale as $\propto |\epsilon_1|v^2/\mu^2$ and are suppressed down to negligible levels for $m_{\chi} \simeq 1$ TeV, yielding a fine-tuning of a permil or worse, comparable to the MSSM.

The light Higgsino region below m_W is genuine to the BMSSM. With a moderate fine-tuning better than ten percent, as shown in the lower panel of Fig. 7, this region holds promise of being the only possible island of naturalness for Higgsino DM. Yet, a few comments are in order.

- ϵ_1 values as negative as $\simeq -0.12$ are required in order to maximize the mass splitting with the lightest chargino. Such large values are only attainable for $\tan \beta \simeq 8 - 10$, which nearly saturates the upper bound of Eq. (2.10) and thus corresponds to a regime where m_h starts being sensitive to (neglected) higher orders in inverse power of the cutoff scale M. Similarly large ϵ_1 values could however be obtained at smaller $\tan \beta$ if some contribution of the SUSYbreaking operator in Eq. (2.2) is introduced with $\epsilon_2 \leq 0$. But in this case the connection between the Higgs mass and the DM phenomenology is partially lost.
- A not-too-heavy wino of $\mathcal{O}(\text{few 100})$ GeV should be present in the spectrum in order to yield the necessary extra $\mathcal{O}(\text{few GeV})$ contribution to the LSP/chargino mass splitting. The presence of the wino not far above the LSP mass would however induce a significant wino component of the LSP, which is constrained by direct detection. The upper panel of Fig. 6 illustrates the impact of null results at the current LUX and the future LZ experiments on the light Higgsino DM scenario. The scenario is marginally consistent with the current LUX limits. A stronger direct detection constraint would push the wino to higher masses, which forces the LSP mass to increase through a reduced mass splitting with the chargino. Furthermore, once $m_{\chi} \gtrsim 75 \,\mathrm{GeV}$, LSP (co-)annihilation processes through off-shell weak gauge bosons become efficient in depleting the relic abundance. For instance, a null result at the LZ detector would then imply that light Higgsino DM in the BMSSM cannot form more than $\mathcal{O}(50\%)$ of the observed DM abundance, if thermally produced in the early Universe. A simple inspection of the lower panel of Figs. 6 and 7 leads to the same conclusion.
- As shown in e.g. Fig. 7, current direct searches and collider bounds limit the DM abundance to $\simeq 80\%$ of the observed value. This result assumes that the mass splitting of the LSP with the chargino is given by the tree-level relation of Eq. (4.8). Sizeable radiative corrections to the Higgsino mass splittings can arise if the mixing between stop quarks is large [77]. The correction cannot exceed $\simeq 5 \,\text{GeV}$ without inducing an overly large contribution to the so-called

 ρ -parameter relative to the SM [77]. We show in Figs. 6 (lower panel) and 7 that under the assumption of a supplementary $\simeq 5 \text{ GeV}$ radiative contribution to $\delta m_{\tilde{C}}$ all of the observed DM could consist of a light Higgsino LSP and satisfy current limits. Any slight improvement of either the chargino bound at the LHC or the SI cross section at forthcoming direct detection experiments would strongly disfavor this scenario.

• The narrowness of the LSP mass region suggests a non-negligible sensitivity of the relic density prediction to the model's parameters, in particular μ which dominantly controls the LSP mass. In order to better quantify the latter we used the logarithmic measure

$$\Delta_{\Omega_{\chi}} \equiv \sqrt{\sum_{p} \left(\frac{d\log\Omega_{\chi}}{d\log p}\right)^2},\tag{5.11}$$

with p running over μ , M_1 , M_2 , m_A , $\tan \beta$. Figure 8 shows that this sensitivity does not exceed 5% for $m_{\chi} \leq 90$ GeV. Albeit not completely free of fine-tuning, the light Higgsino DM in the BMSSM still appears qualitatively more natural than its $\mathcal{O}(\text{TeV})$ counterpart in the MSSM.

To summarize, the BMSSM scenario with a light Higgsino DM below the weak gauge boson threshold, albeit displaying a low EW fine-tuning, does lean on specific assumptions among unrelated parameters. This signals an additional sensitivity to the model's parameters, besides the measure of Eq. (3.4), which we estimate to be at least of one part in ten. Moreover, this light Higgsino LSP scenario is probably subject to a mild radiative fine-tuning imposed by direct stop searches at the LHC. For $m_{\chi} \simeq 80 \text{ GeV}$, the current lower bound on the lightest stop mass is $\simeq 650 \text{ GeV}$ [47, 48], unless the stop lies in the stealth region [49], which roughly corresponds to an $\simeq \mathcal{O}(10\%)$ radiative fine-tuning. Once the gauge boson channel opens up, its efficiency in depleting DM pushes EW fine-tuning both in the MSSM and the BMSSM in the permil territory if neutralino LSPs are to constitute all of DM in the universe.

6 Conclusions

We considered SUSY extensions beyond the MSSM where the characteristic scale of the new sector is parametrically larger than that of the minimal SUSY spectrum. This separation of scales allows for an EFT description of the new dynamics in terms of MSSM superfields and symmetries. There is a unique higher dimensional operator at lowest order involving only Higgs fields, which easily raises the SM Higgs mass to the observed value without resorting to large SUSY breaking effects in the top/stop sector. This significantly relaxes the pressure on naturalness coming from radiative



Figure 7. Neutralino relic density in the BMSSM as a function of the LSP mass (upper panel) and the EW fine-tuning Δ_0 (lower panel) for Higgsino-like LSPs below the threshold of EW boson pair production. Colors denote the requirement to satisfy various constraints on the chargino mass and the SI DM scattering cross section probed by direct searches as explained in Sec. 5.1.

corrections to the Higgs mass. This leading BMSSM operator further modifies the vacuum and, by supersymmetry, the electroweakino phenomenology in a correlated way. We analysed in this paper various implications of this effective operator, setting its coefficient so as to reproduce $m_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ at the classical level, *i.e.* $-0.1 \leq \epsilon_1 \leq -0.05$ depending on tan β and the CP-odd Higgs scalar mass.

First of all, we derived at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ the modifications of the EW fine-tuning asso-



Figure 8. Relic density of Higgsino DM as a function of its log-sensitivity to fundamental parameters as predicted in the BMSSM for $m_{\chi} \leq m_Z$. The light green band depicts the 3σ -range favored by WMAP-9 for cold DM density values. Colors denote the requirement to satisfy various constraints on the chargino mass and the SI DM scattering cross section probed by direct searches as explained in Sec. 5.1.

ciated with tree-level contributions to the weak scale. We further found that for fixed values of the MSSM parameters the BMSSM correction always suppresses the dominant sources of EW fine-tuning associated with the μ parameter and the H_u soft mass term, up to $\simeq 40\%$ for $\mu \simeq 100$ GeV. The fine-tuning improvement however is significantly reduced as m_A and/or tan β increase above $\simeq 200$ GeV and $\simeq 4$, respectively.

Under the assumption that the observed DM is a stable neutralino relic, present direct searches already strongly constrain the LSP composition to either quasi-pure gaugino or Higgsino states, with purity $p = \min(F_{\tilde{H}}, 1 - F_{\tilde{H}}) \leq 0.1$ for DM lighter than 100 GeV. This results in a significant source of pressure on naturalness for gaugino DM, since the higher gaugino purity pushes the μ -parameter to increasingly large values. We showed that the Higgs coupling to gaugino LSP pairs, which controls the SI DM scattering off nucleons, is always enhanced by the BMSSM contribution at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$. Furthermore the leading MSSM-like contribution to this coupling, which scales like $\tan^{-1}\beta$, cannot be as small as in the MSSM in the presence of the effective correction to the Higgs mass, as the latter strongly favors low $\tan \beta \leq 10$. This results in a significantly larger Higgs-to-LSP pairs coupling in the BMSSM for a given value of the μ -parameter, most notably at DM masses below 100 GeV. Consequently, the LUX experiment currently implies a minimal fine-tuning as strong as a few percent for a DM mass around 30 - 50 GeV, which is about four times worse than that of the MSSM in the same mass region. Null results from a forthcoming LZ experiment would push the BMSSM fine-tuning to at least the permil level for DM masses above 20 GeV, while the MSSM could still be significantly less fine-tuned, up to a factor of $\mathcal{O}(10)$ for DM around 50 GeV.

Direct searches do not constitute, however, an immediate threat to EW naturalness for Higgsino DM, since it is sufficient for EW gauginos to emerge around the scale of a few TeV. Quasi-pure Higgsino DM however suffers from very efficient (co-)annihilation into weak gauge bosons in the early Universe. Whenever kinematically accessible, these processes strongly deplete the Higgsino thermal relic density at freeze-out far below the level required by CMB data, unless the LSP is sufficiently heavy. In the MSSM, this implies $\mu \simeq 1 \text{ TeV}$ and in turn a permit level tuning. This conclusion still holds in the presence of the BMSSM operator as its effect, of $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1 v^2/\mu^2)$, is negligible for DM masses around the TeV scale. However, we find that the BMSSM operator marginally allows for a low fine-tuning scenario where the Higgsino DM is just below the weak boson annihilation threshold, without conflicting with LEP constraints on light charginos and present data from direct searches. The right relic abundance, however, comes only at the price of a few specific features, namely a DM mass around $\simeq 75 \,\text{GeV}$, a sub-TeV scale wino and a large radiative mass splitting among the neutral and charged Higgsino. These requirements signal a sensitivity of the relic density to fundamental parameters which we estimate to be around one part in ten. Albeit its apparent fragility, we still find this scenario worthy of consideration as it is the only island of naturalness in the BMSSM framework which resists present DM constraints. Nonetheless, any mild improvement in searches either for DM at underground detectors or for charginos at colliders [87–89] would be sufficient to wipe it out. With the exception of the aforementioned peculiar region of parameter space, we find that any solution to the little hierarchy problem in SUSY which involves a heavy supersymmetric extension of the MSSM still suffers from a severe fine-tuning problem, in some cases worse than in the MSSM, if this theory is to explain DM-related observations through a stable neutralino. Therefore, DM considerations seem to favor non-minimal realizations of SUSY with light new degrees of freedom or, eventually, scenarios where a significant fraction of DM does not consist of neutralinos. With the currently advertised prospects for improved sensitivities to WIMP DM in future direct searches, this "little neutralino DM problem" in SUSY might surpass the one associated with stop searches at the LHC.

Acknowledgements

We thank Fawzi Boudjema, Gilad Perez and Alexander Pukhov for helpful discussions. This work was supported in part by the French ANR, Project DMAstroLHC, ANR-12-BS05-006 and by the *Investissements d'avenir*, Labex ENIGMASS. AG is

supported by the New Frontiers program of the Austrian Academy of Sciences.

A Neutral Higgs spectrum

We present here the corrections to the spectrum and mixing angle of the neutral CPeven Higgs states in the presence of the effective operators in Eqs. (2.1) and (2.2). The neutral mass-squared matrix of the CP-even neutral Higgs sector is (in the h_d^0 , h_u^0 basis)

$$\mathcal{M}_{h}^{2} = \begin{pmatrix} m_{Z}^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + m_{A}^{2}s_{\beta}^{2} & -(m_{Z}^{2} + m_{A}^{2})\frac{s_{2\beta}}{2} \\ -(m_{Z}^{2} + m_{A}^{2})\frac{s_{2\beta}}{2} & m_{Z}^{2}s_{\beta}^{2} + m_{A}^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} \end{pmatrix} + 4v^{2} \begin{pmatrix} \epsilon_{2}s_{\beta}^{2} - \epsilon_{1}s_{2\beta} & -\epsilon_{1} \\ -\epsilon_{1} & \epsilon_{2}c_{\beta}^{2} - \epsilon_{1}s_{2\beta} \end{pmatrix},$$
(A.1)

where $c_{\beta} \equiv \cos \beta$, $s_{\beta} \equiv \sin \beta$, etc and the CP-odd scalar mass is related to the Lagrangian parameters through $m_A^2 = (2b + 4\epsilon_1 v^2)/s_{2\beta} - 4\epsilon_2 v^2$. The light (*h*) and heavy (*H*) eigenstates are obtained through the orthogonal transformation

$$\begin{pmatrix} h_u^0 \\ h_d^0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v \sin \beta \\ v \cos \beta \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \alpha & \sin \alpha \\ -\sin \alpha & \cos \alpha \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} h \\ H \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (A.2)

To leading $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$, the tree-level masses are (provided $m_A > m_Z$)

$$m_{h,H}^{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left(m_{Z}^{2} + m_{A}^{2} \mp \sqrt{\Delta_{h}} \right) + 2v^{2} \left[\epsilon_{2} \left(1 \pm c_{2\beta}^{2} \frac{m_{Z}^{2} - m_{A}^{2}}{\sqrt{\Delta_{h}}} \right) - 2\epsilon_{1} s_{2\beta} \left(1 \pm \frac{m_{A}^{2} + m_{Z}^{2}}{\sqrt{\Delta_{h}}} \right) \right], \quad (A.3)$$

with $\Delta_h \equiv m_A^4 + m_Z^4 - 2m_A^2 m_Z^2 c_{4\beta}$, while the mixing angle α relates to the tree-level masses as

$$\frac{\tan 2\alpha}{\tan 2\beta} = \frac{m_A^2 + m_Z^2 - \delta_t}{m_A^2 - m_Z^2}, \quad \delta_t = -8 \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\sin 2\beta};$$
(A.4)

and

$$\frac{\sin 2\alpha}{\sin 2\beta} = -\frac{m_H^2 + m_h^2 - \delta_s}{m_H^2 - m_h^2}, \quad \delta_s = \delta_t \left(1 + \sin^2 2\beta\right), \quad (A.5)$$

Since $\sin 2\beta > 0$, $\delta_{s,t} > 0$ for $\epsilon_1 < 0$ as required by a large tree-level SM-Higgs mass. In the MSSM, $\tan \beta > 1$ implies $\sin 2\beta > 0$ and $\cos 2\beta < 0$, which yields (provided $m_A > m_Z$)

$$MSSM: \quad \sin 2\alpha < 0, \ \cos 2\alpha > 0, \tag{A.6}$$

and α is restricted to the lower-right quadrant: $-\pi/2 < \alpha < 0$. In the BMSSM, however two combinations of signs can arise

BMSSM :
$$\begin{cases} \sin 2\alpha > 0, \ \cos 2\alpha > 0, \ \text{for } m_A^2 + m_Z^2 - \delta_t < 0; \\ \sin 2\alpha < 0, \ \cos 2\alpha > 0, \ \text{for } m_A^2 + m_Z^2 - \delta_t > 0 \end{cases}$$
(A.7)

 $\alpha > 0$ can be achieved in the large $\tan \beta$ limit where $\delta_t \approx 4|\epsilon_1|v^2 \tan \beta$ provided m_A is not too large. Saturating the condition $|\epsilon_1| \tan \beta \lesssim 1$ yields $\alpha > 0$ provided $m_A \lesssim 340 \,\text{GeV}$. In the decoupling limit, $m_A \gtrsim m_Z$, we have that $\beta - \alpha \simeq \pi/2$.

B Neutralino masses and mixings to $\mathcal{O}(m_Z)$

We perform in this section the approximate diagonalization of the neutralino matrix up to $\mathcal{O}(m_Z)$ in the presence of the SUSY-preserving effective operator of Eq. (2.1). The neutralino mass matrix is

$$\mathcal{M}_{\chi_{0}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_{1} & 0 & -m_{Z}s_{W}c_{\beta} & m_{Z}s_{W}s_{\beta} \\ 0 & M_{2} & m_{Z}c_{W}c_{\beta} & -m_{Z}c_{W}s_{\beta} \\ -m_{Z}s_{W}c_{\beta} & m_{Z}c_{W}c_{\beta} & 2\epsilon_{1}\frac{v^{2}}{\mu}s_{\beta}^{2} & -\mu + 2\epsilon_{1}\frac{v^{2}}{\mu}s_{2\beta} \\ m_{Z}s_{W}s_{\beta} & -m_{Z}c_{W}s_{\beta} & -\mu + 2\epsilon_{1}\frac{v^{2}}{\mu}s_{2\beta} & 2\epsilon_{1}\frac{v^{2}}{\mu}c_{\beta}^{2} \end{pmatrix} .$$
(B.1)

It proves useful to diagonalize the Higgsino 2×2 block through the nearly maximal rotation of angle $\theta_{\tilde{h}} = \pi/4 + \delta \theta_{\tilde{h}}$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tilde{h}_d^0\\ \tilde{h}_u^0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta_{\tilde{h}} & \sin\theta_{\tilde{h}}\\ -\sin\theta_{\tilde{h}} & \cos\theta_{\tilde{h}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{h}_1^0\\ \tilde{h}_2^0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.2)

with $\delta \theta_{\tilde{h}} \simeq \epsilon_1 c_{2\beta} v^2 / (2\mu^2)$.

Consider the limit of a decoupled \tilde{W} , as motivated by constraints from direct DM searches (g > g'). The neutralino mass matrix of Eq. (B.1) then reduces to (in the \tilde{B} , \tilde{h}_1^0 , \tilde{h}_2^0 basis)

$$\mathcal{M}_{\chi_0}^{M_2 \to \infty} \simeq \begin{pmatrix} M_1 - \frac{m_Z s_W(s_\beta + c_\beta)}{\sqrt{2}} (1 - \delta_-) & \frac{m_Z s_W(s_\beta - c_\beta)}{\sqrt{2}} (1 + \delta_+) \\ \cdot & \mu_+ & 0 \\ \cdot & \cdot & -\mu_- \end{pmatrix} \\ - \frac{m_W^2}{2M_2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \cdot & 1 + s_{2\beta} - \delta_0 & c_{2\beta} (1 + \delta_+ - \delta_-) \\ \cdot & \cdot & 1 - s_{2\beta} + \delta_0 \end{pmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(M_2^{-2}) . \quad (B.3)$$

where \cdot 's denote entries obtained through the symmetry property of \mathcal{M}_{χ_0} and

$$\mu_{\pm} \equiv \mu \left(1 \pm 3\delta_{\mp} \mp \delta_{\pm} \right) \,, \tag{B.4}$$

with

$$\delta_{\pm} \equiv (1 \pm \sin 2\beta) \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{2\mu^2}, \quad \delta_0 \equiv \cos^2 2\beta \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu^2}. \tag{B.5}$$

When $|M_1|$, μ and their difference are much larger than m_Z , the off-diagonal entries in Eq. (B.3) can be treated perturbatively. In this case, the mixing angles between \tilde{B} and $\tilde{h}_{1,2}^0$ are approximately

$$\theta_{\pm} \simeq \mp \frac{m_Z s_W(s_\beta \pm c_\beta)}{\sqrt{2}(M_1 \mp \mu_{\pm})} \left(1 \mp \delta_{\mp}\right) , \qquad (B.6)$$

respectively. We consider below the limiting cases where the LSP is either a nearly pure bino or Higgisno state.

B.1 Bino dark matter

We further assume here $|M_1| \ll \mu$, so that the lightest neutralino χ is mostly \tilde{B} with small θ_{\mp} projections on \tilde{h}_1^0 and \tilde{h}_2^0 , respectively:

$$\chi \simeq \tilde{B} + \theta_+ \tilde{h}_1^0 + \theta_- \tilde{h}_2^0 + \mathcal{O}(\theta_{\pm}^2) , \qquad (B.7)$$

where the mixing angles in Eq. (B.6) reduce to

$$\theta_{\pm} \simeq \frac{m_Z s_W(s_\beta \pm c_\beta)}{\sqrt{2\mu}} \left[1 \pm \frac{M_1}{\mu} + \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{2\mu^2} (5s_{2\beta} \mp 3) \right] + \cdots,$$
(B.8)

with \cdots denoting neglected $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1 M_1/\mu)$ and $\mathcal{O}(M_1^2/\mu^2)$ and higher. Plugging back Eq. (B.8) into Eq. (B.7) and moving back to the original current basis with Eq. (B.2) gives the following LSP composition

$$\mathcal{N}_{\chi 1} \simeq 1, \quad \mathcal{N}_{\chi 2} \sim \mathcal{O}(M_2^{-1}),$$
 (B.9)

$$\mathcal{N}_{\chi 3} \simeq \frac{m_Z s_W s_\beta}{\mu} \left[1 + \frac{M_1}{t_\beta \mu} + \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu^2} \left(3s_{2\beta} - \frac{2}{t_\beta} \right) \right], \qquad (B.10)$$

$$\mathcal{N}_{\chi 4} \simeq -\frac{m_Z s_W c_\beta}{\mu} \left[1 + \frac{t_\beta M_1}{\mu} + \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu^2} \left(1 + 3c_{2\beta} \right) t_\beta \right] , \qquad (B.11)$$

which, when used in Eq. (4.3) yields the approximate Higgs-to-LSP pair coupling in Eq. (4.5).

B.2 Higgsino dark matter

We assume here $|M_1| \gg \mu$, so that the lightest neutralino is either of the two Higgsino states $\tilde{h}_{1,2}^0$ with a small θ_{\pm} projection on \tilde{B} . In the MSSM, $\mathcal{O}(m_Z^2)$ mixings are required to decide which of $\tilde{h}_{1,2}^0$ is the LSP [56], while the degeneracy is dominantly lifted at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$ in the BMSSM. Indeed, the masses of \tilde{h}_1^0 and \tilde{h}_2^0 are (including $\mathcal{O}(m_Z^2)$ corrections)

$$m_{\tilde{h}_{1}^{0}} \simeq \mu_{+} + \delta_{Z}, \quad m_{\tilde{h}_{2}^{0}} \simeq \mu_{-} + \delta'_{Z},$$
 (B.12)

with

$$\delta_{Z} \equiv \frac{m_{Z}^{2}}{2} (1 + s_{2\beta}) \left(\frac{c_{W}^{2}}{\mu - M_{2}} + \frac{s_{W}^{2}}{\mu - M_{1}} \right) ,$$

$$\delta_{Z}' \equiv \frac{m_{Z}^{2}}{2} (1 - s_{2\beta}) \left(\frac{c_{W}^{2}}{\mu + M_{2}} + \frac{s_{W}^{2}}{\mu + M_{1}} \right) , \qquad (B.13)$$

which yields a splitting of

$$m_{\tilde{h}_{1}^{0}} - m_{\tilde{h}_{2}^{0}} \simeq (\mu_{+} - \mu_{-}) + (\delta_{Z} - \delta_{Z}')$$
$$\simeq 2 \frac{\epsilon_{1} v^{2}}{\mu} - \left(\frac{m_{Z}^{2} s_{W}^{2}}{M_{1}} + \frac{m_{W}^{2}}{M_{2}}\right) , \qquad (B.14)$$

where $\mathcal{O}(M_{1,2}^{-2})$ corrections and higher are neglected. For $\epsilon_1 < 0$, we always have $\mu_+ < \mu_-$ and \tilde{h}_1^0 is the LSP, unless either of $M_{1,2}$ is negative (for $\mu > 0$) and of sufficiently small magnitude. Assuming $e.g. M_2 \to \infty$, this corresponds to $M_1 < 0$ and $|M_1| \leq m_Z^2 s_W^2 \mu/(2|\epsilon_1|v^2) \simeq 30 \text{ GeV}$ for $\mu = 100 \text{ GeV}$ and $|\epsilon_1| \simeq 0.1$.

Focusing for instance on the limit of decoupled wino $(M_2 \to \infty)$, the LSP is mostly \tilde{h}_1^0 (regardless of the relative sign between M_1 and μ) whenever the BMSSM operator is dominant in raising the Higgs mass above m_Z and the μ -parameter is kept light to minimize fine-tuning. The LSP composition is found to be

$$\chi \simeq \tilde{h}_1^0 - \theta_+ \tilde{B} + \mathcal{O}(\theta_{\pm}^2) \,, \tag{B.15}$$

with

$$\theta_{+} \simeq -\frac{m_Z s_W(s_{\beta} + c_{\beta})}{\sqrt{2}M_1} \left[1 - \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{2\mu^2} \left(1 - s_{2\beta} \right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{\mu}{M_1}\right) \right] \,. \tag{B.16}$$

or equivalently in the $(\tilde{h}_d^0, \tilde{h}_u^0)$ basis

$$\mathcal{N}_{\chi 1} \simeq -\theta_+, \quad \mathcal{N}_{\chi 2} \sim \mathcal{O}(M_2^{-1}),$$
(B.17)

$$\mathcal{N}_{\chi 3} \simeq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(1 - \frac{\epsilon_1 c_{2\beta} v^2}{2\mu^2} \right) , \quad \mathcal{N}_{\chi 4} \simeq -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(1 + \frac{\epsilon_1 c_{2\beta} v^2}{2\mu^2} \right) . \tag{B.18}$$

An important quantity in Higgsino LSP scenarios is the mass splitting between the LSP and the other neutral and charged Higgsinos. The mass splitting between \tilde{h}_1^0 and \tilde{h}_2^0 is given by Eq. (B.14). The charged Higgsino mass is also corrected at $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_1)$. The chargino mass matrix reads

$$\mathcal{M}_{\chi^{\pm}} = \begin{pmatrix} M_2 & \sqrt{2}m_W s_\beta \\ \sqrt{2}m_W c_\beta & \mu - s_{2\beta} \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (B.19)$$

and the lightest chargino mass in the $M_2 \gg \mu$ limit is approximately

$$m_{\tilde{C}} \simeq \mu - s_{2\beta} \left(\frac{m_W^2}{M_2} + \frac{\epsilon_1 v^2}{\mu} \right) , \qquad (B.20)$$

modulo neglected $\mathcal{O}(M_2^{-2})$ and higher. Combining Eqs. (B.20), (B.12) and (B.14) yields the mass splitting in Eq. (4.8).

C Spin-independent DM scattering on nucleons

We review here the calculation of the scattering cross section relevant to direct DM searches. The SI cross section on proton (similar expressions can be derived for neutron) is obtained through [90]

$$\sigma_{\rm SI} = \frac{4m_r^2}{\pi} |f_p|^2 \,, \tag{C.1}$$

where the reduced mass $m_r \equiv m_p m_{\chi}/(m_p + m_{\chi})$ and

$$\frac{f_p}{m_p} = \sum_{q=u,d,s} f_q^p A_q + \frac{2}{27} f_g^p \sum_{Q=c,b,t} \left(1 + \frac{35\alpha_s(m_Q)}{36\pi} \right) A_Q , \qquad (C.2)$$

including QCD corrections at NLO [90]. $f_g^p = 1 - \sum_q f_q^p$ and $\alpha_s(m_Q)$ is the running QCD fine structure constant evaluated at the scale m_Q . We use [91] $\alpha_s(m_c) = 0.39$, $\alpha_s(m_b) = 0.22$ and $\alpha_s(m_t) = 0.108$, and $f_u^p = 0.0153$, $f_d^p = 0.0191$ and $f_s^p = 0.0447$ [64]. Assuming universal contributions in the up- and down-type quark sectors, *i.e.* $A_u = A_c = A_t \equiv A_{q^u}$ and $A_d = A_s = A_b \equiv A_{q^d}$, Eq. (C.2) becomes approximately

$$\frac{f_p}{m_p} \simeq 0.162 A_{q^u} + 0.137 A_{q^d} \,. \tag{C.3}$$

Neglecting squark exchange, the short-distance amplitudes are supported by tchannel Higgs exchanges

$$A_q \equiv -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{2}v} \left(\frac{g_{h\chi\chi}}{m_h^2} a_q^h + \frac{g_{H\chi\chi}}{m_H^2} a_q^H \right) , \qquad (C.4)$$

with

$$a_{q=u,c,t}^{h} = \frac{\cos \alpha}{\sin \beta}, \quad a_{q=d,s,b}^{h} = -\frac{\sin \alpha}{\cos \beta},$$
 (C.5)

for the light CP-even Higgs boson and

$$a_{q=u,c,t}^{H} = \frac{\sin \alpha}{\sin \beta}, \quad a_{q=d,s,b}^{H} = \frac{\cos \alpha}{\cos \beta},$$
 (C.6)

for the heavy one. Recall that in the decoupling limit, $m_A \gg m_Z$, $a_q^h \to 1$ for all q, while $a_{d,s,b}^H \to \tan \beta$ and $a_{u,c,t}^H \to -1/\tan \beta$. We checked that cross sections obtained using the above expressions agree with those resulting from micrOMEGAs within a percent.

Note that in the MSSM with $\tan \beta > 1$, since $\pi/2 < \alpha < 0$ (or, equivalently $\cos \alpha > 0$ and $\sin \alpha < 0$), the light Higgs contributions to A_{q^u} and A_{q^d} have the

same sign and they always add up in the SI scattering cross section. The situation could be rather different in the BMSSM since $\alpha > 0$ is possible, see Eq. (A.7), in which case A_{q^u} and A_{q^d} interfere destructively. Strong cancellations among the upand down-type contributions to the light Higgs exchange amplitude can in particular occur for $\tan \beta \sim \mathcal{O}(\text{few})$ or more and $m_A \leq \mathcal{O}(300 \text{ GeV})$. In this case, $\beta = \pi/2 - \varepsilon_{\beta}$ and $\alpha = \varepsilon_{\alpha} > 0$, with $\varepsilon_{\alpha} \simeq \varepsilon_{\beta} \ll 1$, which yields $A_{q^u} \simeq -A_{q^d}$ and in turns leads to potentially strong accidental cancellations in f_p/m_p as given by Eq. (C.3).

D Electroweak fine-tuning expressions

We provide in this section the complete expressions for the individual sources of EW fine-tuning, including $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon_{1,2})$ corrections, as defined in Eq. (3.3).

$$\delta(\mu) = \delta_{\text{MSSM}}(\mu) - 8\frac{\mu^2}{m_Z^2} \frac{v^2 t_{2\beta}}{m_A^2 c_{2\beta}} \left[2\epsilon_1 \left(1 + s_{2\beta}^2 \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) - \epsilon_2 s_{2\beta} \left(1 + \frac{2m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) \right] , \text{(D.1)}$$

$$\delta(b) = \delta_{\text{MSSM}}(b) + \frac{2\epsilon_2 v^2 t_{2\beta}^2}{m_Z^2} - \frac{4\epsilon_1 v^2 s_{2\beta}}{m_A^2}, \qquad (D.2)$$

$$\delta(m_{H_u}^2) = \delta_{\text{MSSM}}(m_{H_u}^2) - 2\epsilon_1 v^2 s_{2\beta} \left[\frac{2F_u}{m_A^2} \left[1 + \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) t_{2\beta}^2 \right] - \frac{G_u}{m_Z^2} \right] + 2\epsilon_2 v^2 \left[\frac{F_u}{m_A^2} t_{2\beta}^2 \left(1 + \frac{2m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) + \frac{G_u}{m_Z^2} c_\beta^2 \right],$$
(D.3)

$$\delta(m_{H_d}^2) = \delta_{\text{MSSM}}(m_{H_d}^2) + 2\epsilon_1 v^2 s_{2\beta} \left[\frac{2F_d}{m_A^2} \left[1 + \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) t_{2\beta}^2 \right] - \frac{G_d}{m_Z^2} \right] - 2\epsilon_2 v^2 \left[\frac{F_d}{m_A^2} t_{2\beta}^2 \left(1 + \frac{2m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) + \frac{G_d}{m_Z^2} s_\beta^2 \right],$$
(D.4)

$$\delta(\epsilon_{1r}) = \frac{8\epsilon_{1r}v^2}{m_Z^2} s_{2\beta} \left[1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{2m_A^2} + \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) t_{2\beta}^2 \right], \qquad (D.5)$$

$$\delta(\epsilon_{2r}) = -\frac{2\epsilon_{2r}v^2}{m_Z^2} t_{2\beta}^2 \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2}\right),$$
(D.6)

with

$$F_u \equiv \frac{c_{2\beta}}{2} - \frac{\mu^2}{m_Z^2} + c_\beta^2 \frac{m_A^2}{m_Z^2}, \qquad (D.7)$$

$$G_u \equiv -1 + \frac{1}{c_{2\beta}} - \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2}\right) t_{2\beta}^2, \qquad (D.8)$$

and

$$F_d \equiv \frac{c_{2\beta}}{2} + \frac{\mu^2}{m_Z^2} - s_\beta^2 \frac{m_A^2}{m_Z^2}, \qquad (D.9)$$

$$G_d \equiv 1 + \frac{1}{c_{2\beta}} + \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2}\right) t_{2\beta}^2, \qquad (D.10)$$

while the MSSM contributions are

$$\delta_{\text{MSSM}}(\mu) = -\frac{4\mu^2}{m_Z^2} \left(1 + \left(1 + \frac{m_Z^2}{m_A^2} \right) t_{2\beta}^2 \right), \qquad (D.11)$$

$$\delta_{\text{MSSM}}(b) = t_{2\beta}^2 \left(1 + \frac{m_A^2}{m_Z^2} \right) ,$$
 (D.12)

$$\delta_{\text{MSSM}}(m_{H_{u,d}}^2) = F_{u,d} G_{u,d} .$$
 (D.13)

References

- G. Jungman, M. Kamionkowski, and K. Griest, Supersymmetric dark matter, Phys. Rept. 267 (1996) 195–373, [hep-ph/9506380].
- C. Munoz, Dark matter detection in the light of recent experimental results, Int.J.Mod.Phys. A19 (2004) 3093–3170, [hep-ph/0309346].
- [3] G. Bertone, D. Hooper, and J. Silk, Particle dark matter: Evidence, candidates and constraints, Phys. Rept. 405 (2005) 279–390, [hep-ph/0404175].
- [4] M. W. Goodman and E. Witten, Detectability of Certain Dark Matter Candidates, Phys. Rev. D31 (1985) 3059.
- [5] H. Baer, E.-K. Park, and X. Tata, Collider, direct and indirect detection of supersymmetric dark matter, New J.Phys. 11 (2009) 105024, [arXiv:0903.0555].
- [6] XENON10 Collaboration, J. Angle et al., A search for light dark matter in XENON10 data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 107 (2011) 051301, [arXiv:1104.3088].
- [7] XENON100 Collaboration, E. Aprile et al., Dark Matter Results from 225 Live Days of XENON100 Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 181301, [arXiv:1207.5988].
- [8] CDMS Collaboration, R. Agnese et al., Silicon Detector Dark Matter Results from the Final Exposure of CDMS II, Phys.Rev.Lett. 111 (2013) 251301, [arXiv:1304.4279].
- [9] LUX Collaboration, D. Akerib et al., First results from the LUX dark matter experiment at the Sanford Underground Research Facility, Phys.Rev.Lett. 112 (2014) 091303, [arXiv:1310.8214].
- [10] CRESST-II Collaboration, G. Angloher et al., Results on low mass WIMPs using an upgraded CRESST-II detector, arXiv:1407.3146.
- [11] ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys.Lett. B716 (2012) 1–29, [arXiv:1207.7214].

- [12] CMS Collaboration, S. Chatrchyan et al., Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys.Lett. B716 (2012) 30-61, [arXiv:1207.7235].
- [13] L. J. Hall, D. Pinner, and J. T. Ruderman, A Natural SUSY Higgs Near 126 GeV, JHEP 1204 (2012) 131, [arXiv:1112.2703].
- [14] M. Maniatis, The Next-to-Minimal Supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model reviewed, Int.J.Mod.Phys. A25 (2010) 3505–3602, [arXiv:0906.0777].
- [15] U. Ellwanger, C. Hugonie, and A. M. Teixeira, The Next-to-Minimal Supersymmetric Standard Model, Phys.Rept. 496 (2010) 1–77, [arXiv:0910.1785].
- [16] P. Batra, A. Delgado, D. E. Kaplan, and T. M. Tait, The Higgs mass bound in gauge extensions of the minimal supersymmetric standard model, JHEP 0402 (2004) 043, [hep-ph/0309149].
- [17] A. Maloney, A. Pierce, and J. G. Wacker, *D-terms, unification, and the Higgs mass, JHEP* 0606 (2006) 034, [hep-ph/0409127].
- [18] R. Auzzi, A. Giveon, S. B. Gudnason, and T. Shacham, A Light Stop with Flavor in Natural SUSY, JHEP 1301 (2013) 169, [arXiv:1208.6263].
- [19] R. Huo, G. Lee, A. M. Thalapillil, and C. E. Wagner, SU(2)?SU(2) gauge extensions of the MSSM revisited, Phys. Rev. D87 (2013), no. 5 055011, [arXiv:1212.0560].
- [20] A. Bharucha, A. Goudelis, and M. McGarrie, *En-gauging Naturalness*, *Eur.Phys.J.* C74 (2014) 2858, [arXiv:1310.4500].
- [21] S. Dimopoulos, K. Howe, and J. March-Russell, Maximally Natural Supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 111802, [arXiv:1404.7554].
- [22] U. Ellwanger, G. Espitalier-Noel, and C. Hugonie, Naturalness and Fine Tuning in the NMSSM: Implications of Early LHC Results, JHEP 1109 (2011) 105, [arXiv:1107.2472].
- [23] G. G. Ross, K. Schmidt-Hoberg, and F. Staub, The Generalised NMSSM at One Loop: Fine Tuning and Phenomenology, JHEP 1208 (2012) 074, [arXiv:1205.1509].
- [24] M. Y. Binjonaid and S. F. King, Naturalness of scale-invariant NMSSMs with and without extra matter, Phys. Rev. D90 (2014), no. 7 055020, [arXiv:1403.2088].
- [25] A. Kaminska, G. G. Ross, K. Schmidt-Hoberg, and F. Staub, A precision study of the fine tuning in the DiracNMSSM, JHEP 1406 (2014) 153, [arXiv:1401.1816].
- [26] P. Athron, M. Binjonaid, and S. F. King, Fine Tuning in the Constrained Exceptional Supersymmetric Standard Model, Phys. Rev. D87 (2013), no. 11 115023, [arXiv:1302.5291].
- [27] M. McGarrie, G. Moortgat-Pick, and S. Porto, Confronting Higgs couplings from D-term extensions and Natural SUSY at the LHC and ILC, arXiv:1411.2040.

- [28] M. Dine, N. Seiberg, and S. Thomas, Higgs physics as a window beyond the MSSM (BMSSM), Phys.Rev. D76 (2007) 095004, [arXiv:0707.0005].
- [29] A. Strumia, Bounds on Kaluza-Klein excitations of the SM vector bosons from electroweak tests, Phys.Lett. B466 (1999) 107–114, [hep-ph/9906266].
- [30] J. Casas, J. Espinosa, and I. Hidalgo, The MSSM fine tuning problem: A Way out, JHEP 0401 (2004) 008, [hep-ph/0310137].
- [31] M. Perelstein and B. Shakya, Fine-Tuning Implications of Direct Dark Matter Searches in the MSSM, JHEP 1110 (2011) 142, [arXiv:1107.5048].
- [32] M. Perelstein and B. Shakya, XENON100 implications for naturalness in the MSSM, NMSSM, and λ-supersymmetry model, Phys.Rev. D88 (2013), no. 7 075003, [arXiv:1208.0833].
- [33] M. Berg, J. Edsjo, P. Gondolo, E. Lundstrom, and S. Sjors, Neutralino Dark Matter in BMSSM Effective Theory, JCAP 0908 (2009) 035, [arXiv:0906.0583].
- [34] N. Bernal, K. Blum, Y. Nir, and M. Losada, BMSSM Implications for Cosmology, JHEP 0908 (2009) 053, [arXiv:0906.4696].
- [35] N. Bernal and A. Goudelis, Dark matter detection in the BMSSM, JCAP 1003 (2010) 007, [arXiv:0912.3905].
- [36] M. Dine, L. Randall, and S. D. Thomas, Baryogenesis from flat directions of the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B458 (1996) 291-326, [hep-ph/9507453].
- [37] T. Gherghetta, C. F. Kolda, and S. P. Martin, Flat directions in the scalar potential of the supersymmetric standard model, Nucl. Phys. B468 (1996) 37–58, [hep-ph/9510370].
- [38] I. Antoniadis, E. Dudas, D. Ghilencea, and P. Tziveloglou, MSSM Higgs with dimension-six operators, Nucl. Phys. B831 (2010) 133-161, [arXiv:0910.1100].
- [39] F. Boudjema and G. Drieu La Rochelle, SUSY Higgs searches : beyond the MSSM, Phys. Rev. D85 (2012) 035011, [arXiv:1112.1434].
- [40] F. Boudjema and G. D. La Rochelle, Beyond the MSSM Higgs bosons at 125 GeV, Phys. Rev. D86 (2012) 015018, [arXiv:1203.3141].
- [41] F. Boudjema and G. D. La Rochelle, Supersymmetric Higgses beyond the MSSM: An update with flavour and Dark Matter constraints, Phys. Rev. D86 (2012) 115007, [arXiv:1208.1952].
- [42] Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Comments on the Fayet-Iliopoulos Term in Field Theory and Supergravity, JHEP 0906 (2009) 007, [arXiv:0904.1159].
- [43] S. Dimopoulos and S. D. Thomas, Dynamical relaxation of the supersymmetric CP violating phases, Nucl. Phys. B465 (1996) 23–33, [hep-ph/9510220].
- [44] K. Blum, C. Delaunay, M. Losada, Y. Nir, and S. Tulin, CP violation Beyond the

MSSM: Baryogenesis and Electric Dipole Moments, JHEP **1005** (2010) 101, [arXiv:1003.2447].

- [45] P. Batra and E. Ponton, Supersymmetric electroweak symmetry breaking, Phys. Rev. D79 (2009) 035001, [arXiv:0809.3453].
- [46] A. Arvanitaki, M. Baryakhtar, X. Huang, K. van Tilburg, and G. Villadoro, The Last Vestiges of Naturalness, JHEP 1403 (2014) 022, [arXiv:1309.3568].
- [47] **ATLAS** Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for top squark pair production in final states with one isolated lepton, jets, and missing transverse momentum in $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV pp collisions with the ATLAS detector, arXiv:1407.0583.
- [48] **CMS** Collaboration, S. Chatrchyan et al., Search for top-squark pair production in the single-lepton final state in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV, Eur.Phys.J. **C73** (2013) 2677, [arXiv:1308.1586].
- [49] J. Fan, M. Reece, and J. T. Ruderman, Stealth Supersymmetry, JHEP 1111 (2011) 012, [arXiv:1105.5135].
- [50] M. Czakon, A. Mitov, M. Papucci, J. T. Ruderman, and A. Weiler, *Closing the stop gap*, *Phys.Rev.Lett.* **113** (2014), no. 20 201803, [arXiv:1407.1043].
- [51] Z. Han, A. Katz, D. Krohn, and M. Reece, (Light) Stop Signs, JHEP 1208 (2012) 083, [arXiv:1205.5808].
- [52] K. Blum, C. Delaunay, and Y. Hochberg, Vacuum (Meta)Stability Beyond the MSSM, Phys. Rev. D80 (2009) 075004, [arXiv:0905.1701].
- [53] R. Barbieri and G. Giudice, Upper Bounds on Supersymmetric Particle Masses, Nucl. Phys. B306 (1988) 63.
- [54] N. Arkani-Hamed, A. Delgado, and G. Giudice, The Well-tempered neutralino, Nucl. Phys. B741 (2006) 108–130, [hep-ph/0601041].
- [55] K. Griest and D. Seckel, Three exceptions in the calculation of relic abundances, Phys. Rev. D43 (1991) 3191–3203.
- [56] M. Drees and M. M. Nojiri, The Neutralino relic density in minimal N = 1 supergravity, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 376–408, [hep-ph/9207234].
- [57] L. Roszkowski, R. Ruiz de Austri, and T. Nihei, New cosmological and experimental constraints on the CMSSM, JHEP 0108 (2001) 024, [hep-ph/0106334].
- [58] A. Djouadi, M. Drees, and J.-L. Kneur, Neutralino dark matter in mSUGRA: Reopening the light Higgs pole window, Phys.Lett. B624 (2005) 60-69, [hep-ph/0504090].
- [59] J. R. Ellis, T. Falk, and K. A. Olive, Neutralino Stau coannihilation and the cosmological upper limit on the mass of the lightest supersymmetric particle, *Phys.Lett.* B444 (1998) 367–372, [hep-ph/9810360].
- [60] J. R. Ellis, T. Falk, K. A. Olive, and M. Srednicki, Calculations of neutralino-stau

coannihilation channels and the cosmologically relevant region of MSSM parameter space, Astropart. Phys. **13** (2000) 181–213, [hep-ph/9905481].

- [61] G. Bélanger, G. Drieu La Rochelle, B. Dumont, R. M. Godbole, S. Kraml, et al., LHC constraints on light neutralino dark matter in the MSSM, Phys.Lett. B726 (2013) 773–780, [arXiv:1308.3735].
- [62] L. Calibbi, J. M. Lindert, T. Ota, and Y. Takanishi, LHC Tests of Light Neutralino Dark Matter without Light Sfermions, arXiv:1410.5730.
- [63] http://lepsusy.web.cern.ch/lepsusy/www/inoslowdmsummer02/ charginolowdm_pub.html.
- [64] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov, and A. Semenov, micrOMEGAs 3: A program for calculating dark matter observables, Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 960–985, [arXiv:1305.0237].
- [65] A. Semenov, LanHEP: A Package for the automatic generation of Feynman rules in field theory. Version 3.0, Comput.Phys.Commun. 180 (2009) 431–454, [arXiv:0805.0555].
- [66] A. Pukhov, CalcHEP 2.3: MSSM, structure functions, event generation, batchs, and generation of matrix elements for other packages, hep-ph/0412191.
- [67] A. Belyaev, N. D. Christensen, and A. Pukhov, CalcHEP 3.4 for collider physics within and beyond the Standard Model, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184 (2013) 1729–1769, [arXiv:1207.6082].
- [68] XENON1T Collaboration, E. Aprile, The XENON1T Dark Matter Search Experiment, Springer Proc. Phys. C12-02-22 (2013) 93–96, [arXiv:1206.6288].
- [69] D. Malling, D. Akerib, H. Araujo, X. Bai, S. Bedikian, et al., After LUX: The LZ Program, arXiv:1110.0103.
- [70] J. Bovy and S. Tremaine, On the local dark matter density, Astrophys. J. 756 (2012) 89, [arXiv:1205.4033].
- [71] B. Herrmann, M. Klasen, and K. Kovarik, SUSY-QCD effects on neutralino dark matter annihilation beyond scalar or gaugino mass unification, Phys.Rev. D80 (2009) 085025, [arXiv:0907.0030].
- [72] N. Baro, F. Boudjema, G. Chalons, and S. Hao, Relic density at one-loop with gauge boson pair production, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 015005, [arXiv:0910.3293].
- [73] F. Boudjema, G. Drieu La Rochelle, and S. Kulkarni, One-loop corrections, uncertainties and approximations in neutralino annihilations: Examples, Phys.Rev. D84 (2011) 116001, [arXiv:1108.4291].
- [74] F. Boudjema, G. D. La Rochelle, and A. Mariano, Relic density calculations beyond tree-level, exact calculations versus effective couplings: the ZZ final state, Phys.Rev. D89 (2014) 115020, [arXiv:1403.7459].
- [75] WMAP Collaboration, G. Hinshaw et al., Nine-Year Wilkinson Microwave

Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Cosmological Parameter Results, Astrophys.J.Suppl. **208** (2013) 19, [arXiv:1212.5226].

- [76] K. Particle Data Group, Olive et al., Review of Particle Physics, Chin.Phys. C38 (2014) 090001.
- [77] G. F. Giudice and A. Pomarol, Mass degeneracy of the Higgsinos, Phys.Lett. B372 (1996) 253–258, [hep-ph/9512337].
- [78] CMS Collaboration, V. Khachatryan et al., Searches for electroweak production of charginos, neutralinos, and sleptons decaying to leptons and W, Z, and Higgs bosons in pp collisions at 8 TeV, Eur.Phys.J. C74 (2014), no. 9 3036, [arXiv:1405.7570].
- [79] **ATLAS** Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for direct production of charginos, neutralinos and sleptons in final states with two leptons and missing transverse momentum in pp collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **1405** (2014) 071, [arXiv:1403.5294].
- [80] ATLAS Collaboration, G. Aad et al., Search for direct production of charginos and neutralinos in events with three leptons and missing transverse momentum in √s = 8TeV pp collisions with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 1404 (2014) 169, [arXiv:1402.7029].
- [81] A. Falkowski, F. Riva, and A. Urbano, *Higgs at last*, *JHEP* 1311 (2013) 111, [arXiv:1303.1812].
- [82] G. Bélanger, A. Goudelis, J.-C. Park, and A. Pukhov, *Isospin-violating dark matter from a double portal*, JCAP 1402 (2014) 020, [arXiv:1311.0022].
- [83] C. Kelso, J. Kumar, P. Sandick, and P. Stengel, Strange Brew: Charged Mediators in Dark Matter Scattering with Nuclei, arXiv:1411.2634.
- [84] A. Djouadi, The Anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. II. The Higgs bosons in the minimal supersymmetric model, Phys.Rept. 459 (2008) 1–241, [hep-ph/0503173].
- [85] P. Grothaus, M. Lindner, and Y. Takanishi, Naturalness of Neutralino Dark Matter, JHEP 1307 (2013) 094, [arXiv:1207.4434].
- [86] C. Cheung, L. J. Hall, D. Pinner, and J. T. Ruderman, Prospects and Blind Spots for Neutralino Dark Matter, JHEP 1305 (2013) 100, [arXiv:1211.4873].
- [87] C. Han, A. Kobakhidze, N. Liu, A. Saavedra, L. Wu, et al., Probing Light Higgsinos in Natural SUSY from Monojet Signals at the LHC, JHEP 1402 (2014) 049, [arXiv:1310.4274].
- [88] H. Baer, A. Mustafayev, and X. Tata, Monojet plus soft dilepton signal from light higgsino pair production at LHC14, arXiv:1409.7058.
- [89] Z. Han, G. D. Kribs, A. Martin, and A. Menon, Hunting quasidegenerate Higgsinos, Phys. Rev. D89 (2014) 075007, [arXiv:1401.1235].
- [90] G. Bélanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov, and A. Semenov, Dark matter direct

detection rate in a generic model with micrOMEGAs 2.2, Comput. Phys. Commun. **180** (2009) 747–767, [arXiv:0803.2360].

[91] Z. Z. Xing, H. Zhang, and S. Zhou, Updated Values of Running Quark and Lepton Masses, Phys. Rev. D77 (2008) 113016, [arXiv:0712.1419].